
City Council Meeting Agenda
Tuesday, June 22, 2021

6:00 PM

1) Call to Order

2) Roll Call of Members

3) Pledge of Allegiance

4) Presentations/Special Guests

A) Nick Denby and Lauren Graham, Pelotonia

B) Caitlin Miller, Nationwide Children's Hospital Rubber Duck Race

5) Public Comments

6) President's Report

7) City Attorney Report

8) Consent Agenda:

A) Minutes from the 6-8-21 City Council Meeting

9) Administrative Update:

A) Service Department Update

B) Police Department Update- Chief Rinehart

C) Recreation and Parks Update- Mike Price

D) Finance Department Update- Bill Harvey

E) Mayor's Update

10) Ordinances/Resolutions with visiting presenters

11) Third Readings:

A) Ordinance 24-21, to award the Bexley Electricity Aggregation Program contract to AEP 
Energy, based upon the terms and conditions provided for in their RFP, as modified by the 
Board of Control, introduced by Mr. Sharp. (Introduced on May 25, 2021)

B) Ordinance 25-21, to amend Sections 1220.03, 1220.05, 1223.06, and 1223.08 to specify 
the membership, quorum, and majority vote of the Board of Zoning Appeals and 
Planning and the Architectural Review Board, Introduced by Ms. Saad (introduced on 

Page 1 of 119



May 25, 2021)

C) Resolution 07-21, confirming the Mayor’s appointments of members to the Architectural 
Review Board; the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning; the Recreation and Parks Board; 
the Tree and Public Gardens Commission; the Board of Health; the Civil Service 
Commission; the Community Reinvestment Area Housing Council; the Tax Incentive 
Review Council, the Board of Tax Review; the Records Commission; and the Bexley 
Community Improvement Corporation, Introduced by Ms. Lampke (introduced May 25, 
2021)

12) Second Readings:

A) Ordinance 26-21 to amend section 262.02(e) to allow for the payout of sick leave to part-
time employees upon termination from service with the City (introduced by Mr. Markham 
on June 8, 2021)

B) Ordinance 27-21 to appropriate $281,500 from the Capital Fund and $240,000 from the 
Refuse Fund  for the purpose of funding mid-2021 Capital Projects (introduced by Mr. 
Markham on June 8, 2021)

13) First Readings:

A) Ordinance 28– 21 to amend section 262.02 (c)(3) to provide for Juneteenth as a holiday 
for employees (introduced by Jen Robinson on June 22, 2021)

B) Ordinance 29– 21 to amend 618.15 (Dogs on City Park and Recreational Property), to 
regulate the admittance of service animals in city parks (introduced by Mr. Markham on 
June 22, 2021)

C) Ordinance 30 – 21 to create the position of “Chief Executive Assistant” (introduced by Troy 
Markham on June 22, 2021)

D) Ordinance 31 – 21 to create section 262.02 (c)(14)(A)(4), Vacation Accrual for New 
Employees, and to amend Section 262.02(c)(14)(D), Credit for Prior Service, to provide for 
credit for prior service to employees (introduced by Troy Markham on June 22, 2021)

14) Tabled Ordinances:

A) Resolution 05-21: A Resolution approving the 2021 Bicycle Friendly Bexley Plan 
(introduced by Richard Sharp on May 11, 2021)

i) Link to proposed Bike Boulevard map 

B) Ordinance 12-21, to adopt and approve the City of Bexley Electric Aggregation Plan of 
Operation and Governance, and to declare an emergency, introduced by Mr. Sharp 
(introduced on March 9, 2021).

C) Ordinance 23-21: An Ordinance accepting the donation of an Access Easement, 
Conservation Easement and 1.175 acres of real property adjacent to and east of Alum 
Creek to the City of Bexley (introduced by Mr. Klingler on 5/11/2021)

15) Service and Environmental Committee - Richard Sharp, Chair

16) Finance Committee - Troy Markham, Chair

17) Safety and Health Committee - Jen Robinson, Chair

18) Zoning and Development Committee - Jessica Saad, Chair 

Page 2 of 119

https://bexleygis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/instant/imageryviewer/index.html?appid=9c44667a341849789ed34521cb592dd7


19) Recreation and Parks Committee - Matt Klingler, Chair

20) Judiciary and Strategic Committee - Monique Lampke, Chair 

21) Public Comments (No Speaker Slip Required)

22) Executive Session

A) Executive Session pursuant to 223.03: to consider the appointment, employment, 
dismissal, discipline, promotion, demotion or compensation of a public employee or 
official

23) Adjourn

All agendas are subject to change.

City Council Policy for Correspondence:
All correspondence addressed to City Council or requested to be distributed to City Council by the sender is a matter of public record and will 
be placed on the City of Bexley Website (www.bexley.org) at Public Documents > City Council > Council Correspondence. If the subject of the 
correspondence is not on the Council Agenda, the sender may discuss the issue during Public Comments. If the subject of the correspondence is 
on the Council Agenda, the sender may discuss the issue at the time the issue is addressed during the Council meeting.

City Council Policy for Public Comments:
Members of the public are encouraged to provide comments to City Council at the following times:

For issues that are not on Council’s agenda:

 At a designated public comment period near the beginning of the meeting

For items on Council’s agenda (when speaker slip has been filled out in advance):

 During an ordinance or resolution that is being discussed
 Residents may submit up to two separate speaker slips per meeting
 Please note that the speaker slip must be filled out prior to entering Council chambers and must be promptly handed to the Council 

secretary

For items on Council’s agenda (when a speaker slip has not been filled out in advance):

 During the public comment period after a motion has been made and seconded to adopt an ordinance or resolution (typically the 
third reading)

 During a designated public comment period at the end of the meeting

Time limits for public comments:
While City Council will not routinely impose time limits on either Agenda or Non-Agenda visitors who wish to address City Council, those 
commenting are asked to confine their remarks to approximately five (5) minutes and for Agenda items, to direct their comments to the subject 
matter being addressed in the legislation. This five minute limitation also applies to City Council members per 220.01 (rule 13).

Additional guidelines for public comments:

 Any speaker addressing Council shall provide his/her name and address.
 Undue interruption or other interference with the orderly conduct of remarks is not permitted.
 Defamatory or abusive remarks are always out of order.
 Violation of this policy may result in termination of the speaker's comments and/or removal from the meeting

Page 3 of 119



City Council Meeting Minutes
Tuesday, June 8, 2021

6:00 PM

1) Call to Order
The meeting was called to order by Ms. Feibel at 6:02 p.m.

2) Roll Call of Members
President Lori Ann Feibel, Matt Klingler, Monique Lampke, Troy Markham, Jen Robinson, Jessica 
Saad, and Richard Sharp
Ms. Lampke participated via Zoom. 

3) Pledge of Allegiance

4) Presentations/Special Guests

A) Dr. Fine

Dr. Fine, Bexley City Schools' new Superintendent, explained he has received a warm welcome to 
Bexley. He will be learning and listening to residents during the next 100 days. He is looking 
forward to the partnership with City Council. 

B) Keith Hall
Keith Hall, appointee to the ARB, introduced himself.

5) Public Comments
Ms. Feibel explained this time is dedicated to speaking about non-agenda items. She asked each 
speaker to keep their comment to 5 minutes and to state their name and address.

There are no registrants or members in the audience for public comment. 

6) President's Report
Ms. Feibel indicated Ms. Lampke is joining the meeting via Zoom and that Council is able to meet 
virtually until June 30th. After that date, members must be in person to vote. 

7) City Attorney Report
Mr. Fishel reported that the individuals who filed an appeal regarding the 2300 East Livingston 
property do plan to file an appeal to common pleas court. Mr. Fishel and Mr. Sharp discussed 

Page 4 of 119



Council members commenting on this publicly while it is pending in court.

Mr. Fishel also shared there is pending legislation in the Statehouse that citizens who have 
worked remotely from home may be allowed a refund from the city from which they pay taxes. 
Mr. Harvey, Mr. Fishel, Mayor Kessler, and Mr. Sharp discussed the current version of this bill 
and the potential for disclosure across cities.

8) Administrative Update:

A) Service Department update
Mr. Bashore had nothing to add to his written report. Mr. Bashore and Mayor Kessler answered 
Council members' questions. 

B) Police Department Update
Chief Rinehart had nothing to add to his written report. Chief Rinehart answered Council 
members' questions. 

C) Recreation and Parks Update
Mr. Price had nothing to add to his written report.

D) Finance Department Update
Mr. Harvey had no report. 

E) Mayor's Update
Mr. Kessler provided highlights from his written report. 

9) Consent Agenda:

A) Ordinance 19-21: An ordinance to amend 262.02 (c)(13), Tuition Reimbursement, in order 
to allow for tuition reimbursement for employees hired after January 1, 2012 (introduced 
by Mr. Markham on May 11, 2021)

B) Ordinance 20-21: An ordinance to appropriate $175,000 from the General Fund into the 
Grants Account for the purpose of paying for reimbursable costs associated with the 
Livingston Avenue Plan and Jeffrey Mansion HVAC upgrades (introduced by Mr. Markham 
on May 11, 2021)

C) Ordinance 21-21: An ordinance authorizing participation in the ODOT road salt contracts 
awarded in 2021 (introduced by Troy Markham on May 11, 2021)

D) Resolution 06-21: A resolution to adopt the tax budget for calendar year 2022 attached 
hereto as “Exhibit A” (introduced by Mr. Markham on May 11, 2021)

E) Minutes from the May 25, 2021 City Council Meeting

Page 5 of 119



F) Minutes from the May 4, 2021 Special City Council Meeting
Motion for approval by Mr. Klingler, seconded by Ms. Robinson, Vote 7-0 APPROVED.

10) Ordinances/Resolutions with visiting presenters

A) Ordinance 24-21, to award the Bexley Electricity Aggregation Program contract to AEP 
Energy, based upon the terms and conditions provided for in their RFP, as modified by the 
Board of Control, introduced by Mr. Sharp. (Introduced on May 25, 2021)

Mayor Kessler shared that a representative from AEP explained the market has been recently 
volatile due to a bill in the statehouse. AEP would like to have their information organized before 
presenting, and the City will wait until it has more information to present. The tabled Ordinance 
12-21 will continue to be tabled.

11) Third Readings:

A) Resolution 05-21: A Resolution approving the 2021 Bicycle Friendly Bexley Plan 
(introduced by Richard Sharp on May 11, 2021)

Mr. Kessler shared new information on this plan. There is no one online or in the audience who 
would like to speak to this. This ordinance will be edited. Ms. Feibel shared concerns that citizens 
have shared via correspondence with Council.

Mr. Sharp said the ordinance is aspirational and is to be used as a guide. Council members 
discussed this ordinance.

Motion to amend by Mr. Sharp, seconded by Mr. Klingler. 
Jim Wilson, 2404 Bexley Park Road - Stated he feels these amendments address his concern. 
Vote 7-0 AMENDED 

Motion to Table by Mr. Sharp, seconded by Ms. Robinson, Vote 7-0 APPROVED.

i) Link to proposed Bike Boulevard map 

B) Ordinance 22-21: An ordinance to place proposed amendments to the City of Bexley 
Charter for voter approval on the November 2021 ballot (introduced by Ms. Lampke on 
May 11, 2021)

Ms. Lampke gave an overview of this ordinance and allowed for discussion.

Motion to amend SECTION 1 made by Mr. Sharp; there was no second. Mr. Sharp shared his 
thoughts on this ordinance.

Bethany Hahn-Ambrosius, 708 Chelsea Ave. - explained her opinions on Section 1 and 
emphasized the importance of keeping the language as written by the Charter Review 
Committee. 

Page 6 of 119

https://bexleygis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/instant/imageryviewer/index.html?appid=9c44667a341849789ed34521cb592dd7


Mr. Harvey asked Council members to review the document and look for edits.

Motion for approval by Ms. Lampke, seconded by Mr. Sharp, Vote 7-0 APPROVED.

C) Ordinance 23-21: An Ordinance accepting the donation of an Access Easement, 
Conservation Easement and 1.175 acres of real property adjacent to and east of Alum 
Creek to the City of Bexley (introduced by Mr. Klingler on 5/11/2021)

Motion for tabling by Mr. Klingler, seconded by Ms. Lampke, Vote 7-0 APPROVED.

12) Second Readings:

A) Resolution 07-21, confirming the Mayor’s appointments of members to the Architectural 
Review Board; the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning; the Recreation and Parks Board; 
the Tree and Public Gardens Commission; the Board of Health; the Civil Service 
Commission; the Community Reinvestment Area Housing Council; the Tax Incentive 
Review Council, the Board of Tax Review; the Records Commission; and the Bexley 
Community Improvement Corporation, Introduced by Ms. Lampke (introduced May 25, 
2021)

Mayor Kessler explained potential amendments. 

B) Ordinance 25-21, to amend Sections 1220.03, 1220.05, 1223.06, and 1223.08 to specify 
the membership, quorum, and majority vote of the Board of Zoning Appeals and 
Planning and the Architectural Review Board, Introduced by Ms. Saad (introduced on 
May 25, 2021)

Ms. Saad and Mayor Kessler gave an overview of this ordinance.

13) First Readings:

A) Ordinance 26-21 to amend section 262.02(e) to allow for the payout of sick leave to part-
time employees upon termination from service with the City (introduced by Mr. Markham 
on June 8, 2021)

Mr. Markham, Mayor Kessler, and Mr. Harvey discussed this ordinance. 

B) Ordinance 27-21 to appropriate $281,500 from the Capital Fund and $240,000 from the 
Refuse Fund  for the purpose of funding mid-2021 Capital Projects (introduced by Mr. 
Markham on June 8, 2021)

Mayor Kessler discussed this ordinance. 

14) Tabled Ordinances:

A) Ordinance 12-21, to adopt and approve the City of Bexley Electric Aggregation Plan of 
Operation and Governance, and to declare an emergency, introduced by Mr. Sharp 
(introduced on March 9, 2021).

15) Zoning and Development Committee - Jessica Saad, Chair 
Ms. Saad gave an update pertaining to the most recent CIC meeting and Council members 
discussed the proposed housing developments.

Page 7 of 119



16) Recreation and Parks Committee - Matt Klingler, Chair
Mr. Klinger shared that approximately 1305 people have visited the pool in the past nine days. 

17) Judiciary and Strategic Committee - Monique Lampke, Chair 
Ms. Lampke explained the PRIDE Community Rainbow Crosswalk Event was rescheduled to June 
30th and discussed the potential for a Council financial retreat.

18) Service and Environmental Committee - Richard Sharp, Chair
Mr. Sharp shared he worked to monitor compost at the most recent Main Event, that the Tree 
and Public Garden Committee has developed standards for tree protection during construction, 
and that the Historical Society plans to elect new officers. 

19) Finance Committee - Troy Markham, Chair
Mr. Markham discussed a budget retreat. 

20) Safety and Health Committee - Jen Robinson, Chair

A) Safety and Health Committee Update
Ms. Robinson discussed the upcoming Juneteenth event.

21) Public Comments (No Speaker Slip Required)
There were no public comments. 

22) Adjourn
Motion to adjourn made by Mr. Klingler, seconded to Mr. Sharp, Vote 7-0 ADJOURNED.

Page 8 of 119



Service Department Update
Service Director
 Andy Bashore

           June 22nd 2021

Street Department:
The Street Dept. crews are currently working at Schenider park on a cleanup project. Once the 
crews are finished the trail will be paved along with other improvements in the area. The crew 
is also working on asphalt spot patches. The crew is working on the parade route, repairing pot 
holes and making any repairs necessary.
 
Water and Sewer Department:
The Water/Sewer crew are assisting a local engineering firm with preliminary utility markings 
for a GIS project. The project will start in mid-June and should be finished by August. The crew 
will be doing the annual hydrant flushing the week of June 21st.  The crew continues to clean 
and video the main lines for inspection and making any repairs that can be repaired by city 
staff.     

Urban Forestry/Grounds Maintenance:
The tree crew are starting to work on trimming trees along the parade route. The grounds crew 
are mowing and working on bed maintenance. The hanging flower baskets have been installed 
along Main Street. The city flowers have been installed.

2021 Street Projects
Vernon-Main to Livingston- The project will include water main line replacement and asphalt 
resurfacing. The project has started and should be finished in September 2021. 

Drexel-Main to Broad-Preliminary work will begin in late June. The water main installation will 
begin in mid-July. The project will include water line replacement, storm line improvements, 
and asphalt resurfacing. This will be a joint project between the City and ODOT.

Page 9 of 119



The 2021 annual street project will include these streets: 
Caroline-from Drexel to Cassady
Charles-from Sheridan to College
Pleasant Ridge-from Main to Mound
Mound-Pleasant Ridge to Euclaire .

2021 Sidewalk Project
The project will start in late in mid -July. The project area is in the central area of the City and 
roughly will be between Cassady to Remington. The notices were sent out last week, giving the 
residents an option to use the city contactor or hire their own contractor. This would be for 
sidewalk panels that weren’t related to a city issue. June 18th was the deadline for the resident 
to let the city know if they wanted to use their own contractor.

Service Dept. Highlights

 A painting project started this week. The project will include the painting of hydrants 
and street light poles. 

 The back-flow preventer program is under way and inspections are taking place. So far 
there have been 71 inspections that residents have scheduled with the contractors.    

 Two flow and level monitors have been installed in the storm and sanitary sewer 
system.  We are currently monitoring the data as it comes back in.

 Working on the city’s sign inventory to prepare for a large-scale sign replacement 
program. 

 The 2021 Bexley High School senior class banners have been removed on Main Street 
and the flags have been installed. 

 The DORA signs have been installed in the designated area.
 The trash, recycle and yard waste bids are back in and under review.  

Page 10 of 119



Ordinance 24 - 21  Page 1 of 2 

Ordinance 24 - 21 
 
By: Richard Sharp 
 

An Ordinance to award the Bexley Electricity Aggregation Program contract to 
AEP Energy, based upon the terms and conditions provided for in its RFP,  

as modified by the Board of Control. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bexley (“City”) has determined that it is in the best interest of its residents 
to take action to address the electricity supply requirements of its residents and, to that end, to 
proceed with creating an electricity aggregation program for the City and its residents (the 
“Program”); and 
 
WHEREAS, on November 6, 2001, the electors of the City of Bexley approved of the City’s plan to 
create an electric aggregation program for customers located within the boundaries of the City; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the City wishes to encourage and facilitate the development of Ohio renewable 
energy projects and, to that end, shall include a 100% renewable content in its City aggregation 
RFP with an emphasis on renewable energy produced or to be produced in Ohio; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City developed and issued a request for proposals (RFP) to qualified electricity 
suppliers to provide electricity and related services to the City’s Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City wishes to explore, after a public hearing and additional education, the 
awarding of the contract to AEP Energy; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO: 
 
Section 1.   
That, based upon its being the most qualified and responsive electricity supplier to respond to 
the City’s Request for Proposals, that AEP Energy be selected as the electric supplier for the City’s 
Electricity Aggregation Program, based upon the terms and conditions provided for in the 
Request for Proposal attached hereto as “Exhibit A”, with the following modifications: 
 

1. Use of the Midwest Renewable Energy Credit program as discussed with AEP Energy, at 
an agreed upon rate of $5.499 per kilowatt hour; 

2. Specification that residents may opt out of the aggregation program at any time 
 
And that the Mayor shall be authorized to execute such agreement in form approved by the City’s 
legal counsel and consistent with this Ordinance. 
 

Page 11 of 119



Ordinance 24 - 21  Page 2 of 2 

Section 2.   
That this Ordinance shall go into effect and be in force from and after the earliest period allowed 
by law. 
 
 
 
Passed: __________, 2021 

 
 
____________________________ 
Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council 

 
 
 
Attest:  ___________________________ 
            William Harvey, Clerk of Council 
 
 
      Approved:___________, 2021 
 
 
 
      _______________________ 
      Ben Kessler, Mayor 
 
 
First Reading:    May 25, 2021 
Second Reading:   
Third Reading:   
 

Page 12 of 119



Page 13 of 119



Page 14 of 119



Page 15 of 119



Page 16 of 119



Page 17 of 119



Page 18 of 119



Page 19 of 119



Page 20 of 119



Page 21 of 119



Page 22 of 119



Page 23 of 119



Page 24 of 119



Page 25 of 119



Page 26 of 119



Page 27 of 119



Page 28 of 119



Page 29 of 119



Page 30 of 119



Page 31 of 119



Page 32 of 119



Page 33 of 119



Page 34 of 119



Page 35 of 119



Page 36 of 119



Page 37 of 119



Page 38 of 119



Page 39 of 119



Page 40 of 119



Page 41 of 119



Page 42 of 119



Page 43 of 119



Page 44 of 119



Page 45 of 119



Page 46 of 119



Page 47 of 119



Page 48 of 119



Page 49 of 119



Ordinance 25-21  Page 1 of 3 

    ORDINANCE NO.  25  - 21 
 
BY:  Jessica Saad 
 
An ordinance to amend Sections 1220.03, 1220.05, 1223.06, and 1223.08 to specify the membership, 

quorum, and majority vote of the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning and the Architectural Review 
Board 

 
WHEREAS,  The Architectural Review Board (ARB) and the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning 
(BZAP) provide a critical service to the City in analyzing and approving proposed zoning and construction 
work in the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, Continuity of board attendance between concurrent meetings can be critical to a well-
considered outcome; and 
 
WHEREAS, When one or two board members are missing from a meeting, the current rule requiring 
a majority of the full board for approval as opposed to a majority of those in attendance can disadvantage 
applicants in that it can necessitate super majority votes, and can lead to alternates being pressed to vote 
on an application they may not be fully familiar with if information was conveyed at prior meetings that 
they did not attend; and 
 
WHEREAS, This ordinance is intended to encourage greater continuity between commission and 
board meetings and to provide better service to applicants throughout the approval process; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO:  
 
Section 1. 
That Chapter 1220.03 is hereby amended as follows: 
 
1220.03  MEMBERSHIP, TERM AND ORGANIZATION. 
   (a)   The Board of Zoning and Planning shall consist of seven (7) regular members and up to two (2) 
alternate members consisting of electors of the City not holding other municipal office.   
   (b)   The members are to be appointed by the Mayor and approved by the majority of Council for terms 
of three (3) years each. Any vacancy during the term of a member shall be filled by an alternate member 
appointed by the mayor.  Alternate members shall serve only during the absence of a regular Board 
member. 
   (c)   The Board shall designate a Secretary. The duties of the Secretary shall be as designated in the Rules 
and Regulations as adopted by the Board from time to time. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50 of 119



Ordinance 25-21  Page 2 of 3 

Section 2. 
That Chapter 1220.05 is hereby amended as follows: 
 
1220.05  QUORUM AND MAJORITY VOTE REQUIRED. 
   (a)   Four (4) members shall constitute a quorum to conduct business, provided, however, that two (2) 
members, including the Chairperson, shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of adjourning a meeting. 
   (b)   A majority Four (4) votes of the Board membership in attendance shall be required for rendering a 
final decision on any matter or proposal, including, for the Board, the forwarding to the City Council of a 
recommendation.  (Ord. 29-16.  Passed 11-15-16.) 
 
 
Section 3. 
That Chapter 1223.06 is hereby amended as follows: 
 
1223.06  MEMBERSHIP, TERM AND ORGANIZATION. 
   (a)   The Architectural Review Board shall consist of five (5) regular members and up to two (2) alternate 
members consisting of electors of the City not holding other municipal office. 
   (b)   The members are to be appointed by the Mayor and approved by the majority of Council for terms 
of three (3) years each.  Any vacancy during the term of a member shall be filled by an alternate member 
appointed by the mayor.  Alternate members shall serve only during the absence of a regular Board 
member. 
   (c)   The Board shall designate a Secretary. The duties of the Secretary shall be as designated in the Rules 
and Regulations as adopted by the Board from time to time. 
 
 
Section 4. 
That Chapter 1223.08 is hereby amended as follows: 
 
1223.08  QUORUM AND MAJORITY VOTE REQUIRED. 
   (a)   Three (3) members shall constitute a quorum to conduct business, provided, however, that two (2) 
members, including the Chairperson, shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of adjourning a meeting. 
   (b)   Three affirmative votes of members of the Board are A majority of the Board membership in 
attendance is required to approve a final decision on any matter or proposal, including the forwarding to 
the Board of Zoning and Planning of a recommendation. Fewer than three affirmative votes shall 
constitute a denial. 
   (c)   Any member who has a conflict on any matter before the Board shall not participate in the matter 
in any way, including its presentation, discussions, or vote. However, a member may participate as an 
owner-applicant before the Board for property the member owns or has a legal right or interest in. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51 of 119



Ordinance 25-21  Page 3 of 3 

Section 5.    

That this Ordinance shall go into full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by law. 

 
 

Passed __________________, 2021 

 

      _______________________________ 

      Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council  

 

Attest: __________________, 2021 

 William Harvey, Clerk of Council  

 

      Approved: _________, 2021 

   

 

 

      ______________________ 

                      Benjamin Kessler, Mayor  

 

First Reading:   May 25, 2021 

Second Reading:   

Third Reading:   

 

Page 52 of 119



Resolution 07-21 Annual Appointments  Page 1 of 4 

RESOLUTION NO. 07- 21 
 
By: Monique Lampke 
 
A Resolution confirming the Mayor’s appointments of members to the Architectural Review 
Board; the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning; the Recreation and Parks Board; the Tree 

and Public Gardens Commission; the Board of Health; the Civil Service Commission; the 
Community Reinvestment Area Housing Council; the Tax Incentive Review Council, the Board 

of Tax Review; the Records Commission; and the Bexley Community Improvement 
Corporation 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO:  

 
Section 1.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointments to the Architectural 
Review Board: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
Larry Helman   Member   June 30, 2024 
Jo Ann Strasser  Member   June 30, 2024 
Keith Hall   Alternate Member  June 30, 2024 
 
 
Section 2.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointments to the Board of 
Zoning Appeals and Planning: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
Alissha Mitchell  Member   June 30, 2024 
Sean Turner   Member   June 30, 2024 
Rick Levine   Alternate Member  June 30, 2024 
 
 
Section 3.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointments to the Recreation and 
Parks Board: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
Clare Cebalos   Member   June 30, 2024 
Jessica Sparks   Member   June 30, 2024 
 
 

Page 53 of 119



Resolution 07-21 Annual Appointments  Page 2 of 4 

Section 4.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointments to the Tree and 
Public Gardens Commission: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
Dave Wakeman  Member   June 30, 2024 
Jim Wilson   Member   June 30, 2024 
Ellen Bowden   Alternate Member  June 30, 2023 
Mollie O’Donnell  Alternate Member  June 30, 2024 
 
 
Section 5.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointments to the Bexley Board 
of Health: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
Dr. Harlan Meyer  Member   June 30, 2024 
 
 
Section 6.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointments to the Board of Tax 
Review: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
Leslie Albeit   Member   June 30, 2024 
Robert Schmitz  Member   June 30, 2024 
 
 
Section 7.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointments to the Civil Service 
Commission: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
John Offenberg  Member   June 30, 2027 
 
 
Section 8.   That City Council hereby appoints the following members to the Community 
Reinvestment Area Housing Council: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
 
 

Page 54 of 119



Resolution 07-21 Annual Appointments  Page 3 of 4 

Section 9.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointments to the Tax Incentive 
Review Council: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
Deborah Kutasy  Member   June 30, 2024 
Mark Weiker   Member   June 30, 2024 
 
 
Section 10.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointment to the Records 
Commission: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
Kate Mosca   Member   June 30, 2024 
 
 
Section 11.   That City Council hereby confirms the following appointments to the Community 
Improvement Corporation: 
 
Nominee   Position   Term Expiring 
Itzhak Ben-David  Member   December 31, 2024 
Sarah Gold   Member   December 31, 2024 
Andrew Madison  Member   December 31, 2024 
Jeff Walker   Member   December 31, 2024 
 
 
Section 12.    
That this Ordinance shall go into full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by law. 
 
 
 
Passed __________________, 2021 
      _______________________________ 
      Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council  
 
 
Attest: __________________, 2021 
 William Harvey, Clerk of Council  
 
 
      Approved: _________________, 2021 
 
 
   
      ______________________ 

Page 55 of 119



Resolution 07-21 Annual Appointments  Page 4 of 4 

                     Benjamin Kessler, Mayor  
 
First Reading:   

Page 56 of 119



ORDINANCE NO.   26 - 21 
 
By:  Troy Markham 
 

An ordinance to amend section 262.02(e) to allow for the payout of sick leave to full-time and part-
time employees upon termination from service with the City. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Bexley currently permits full-time employees to cash out a portion of their accrued 
but unused sick leave upon termination of service with the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, employees are permitted to carryover sick leave they earned while employed with certain 
other public employers; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to minimize its financial liability to pay out sick leave earned by employees 
while working for other public employers; and  
 
WHEREAS, part-time employees of the City of Bexley currently accrue sick leave on the same basis as full-
time employees but are not permitted to cash in sick leave upon termination of employment with the 
City; and   
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bexley has valuable dedicated part-time employees who should receive the benefit 
of sick leave payout on the same basis as the full-time employees;    
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO:  
 
Section 1. 
That section 262.02(c)(12)(E) pertaining to the payout of sick leave upon termination from employment 
with the City shall be amended as follows: 
 
E.   Termination of service. When a full-time employee terminates service, they also will receive one 
hour of pay for each eight hours of unused sick leave to their credit for total unused sick leave up to and 
including 320 hours and one hour of pay for each four hours of unused sick leave in excess of 320 hours 
up to and including 2,100 hours. The payment shall be calculated in accordance with subsection A. 
hereof and shall constitute payment in full of all sick leave credit accrued but unused by the employee. 
No payment will be made to any employee, for any unused sick leave, unless it is in excess of 232 hours. 
When termination of service results from the death of the employee, all unused sick leave to their credit 
shall be paid at the rate set forth above, in a lump sum to their surviving spouse or, if there is no spouse, 
to their estate. If the Police Chief or the Police Captain is killed in the line of duty, all unused sick leave to 
their credit shall be paid on the basis of one hour of pay for each hour of unused sick leave at the rate in 
effect at the time of their death in a lump sum to their surviving spouse or, if there is no spouse, to their 
estate. 

Payout of sick leave upon termination under this section, other than due to retirement, shall only 
include sick leave earned while employed with the City of Bexley.    

Page 57 of 119



            Part-time employees shall be entitled to a payout of a portion of accrued but unused sick leave in 
accordance with R.C. § 124.39(B). 

Section 2. 
That section 262.02(e) be amended as follows: 
 
(3)   Part-time employees shall receive sick leave as set forth in Section 262.02(c)(12), including the right 
to cash in accrued but unused sick leave.  
 
Section 3.    
That this Ordinance shall impact all separations from January 1, 2021, and shall go into full force and 
effect at the earliest period allowed by law. 
 

Passed __________________, 2021 

 

      _______________________________ 

      Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council  

 

Attest: __________________, 2021 

 William Harvey, Clerk of Council  

 

       

Approved: _________, 2021 

   

 

 

      ______________________ 

                      Benjamin Kessler, Mayor  

 

First Reading:    June 8, 2021 

Second Reading:   

Third Reading:   

Page 58 of 119



ORDINANCE  NO.   27 - 21 
 

By: Troy Markham 
 

An ordinance to appropriate $297,500 from the Capital Fund and $240,000 from the 
Refuse Fund  for the purpose of funding mid-2021 Capital Projects. 

 
Whereas,   The 2021 Capital budget was abbreviated, pending income tax returns for 
2021; and 
 
Whereas, Income tax returns have exceeded projections, and the Capital Fund has a 
balance in place for capital projects; and 
 
Whereas, There are important projects waiting on the allocation of capital funds, 
including Commonwealth West athletic fields; athletic field maintenance equipment; police 
speed mitigation equipment; and street sweeping equipment; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY: 
 
Section 1. That $297,500 is hereby appropriated from the Capital Fund for mid-2021 capital 

projects. 
 
Section 2. That $240,000 is hereby appropriated from the Refuse Fund for the purpose of 

purchasing a street sweeper. 
 
Section 3. That this ordinance shall go into effect and be in force from and after the 

earliest period allowed by law.   
 

 
Passed:__________, 2021 

_________________________ 
Lori Ann, President of Council 

Attest: ____________________ 
William Harvey, Clerk of Council 
 
      Approved:___________, 2021 

 
 
      _______________________ 
      Mayor Ben Kessler 

 
 
First Reading:   June 8, 2021 
Second Reading:   
Third Reading:   

Page 59 of 119



ORDINANCE NO.   28 - 21 
 
By:  Jen Robinson 
 

An ordinance to amend section 262.02 (c)(3) to provide for Juneteenth as a holiday for employees 
 
WHEREAS,  The City of Bexley places significant importance on encouraging diversity, equity, 

inclusion, and the increasing realization of Bexley as a welcoming community for residents 
and visitors from all backgrounds; and 

 
WHEREAS,  The City of Bexley is committed to recognizing the enduring struggle of our minority 

residents to overcome the deep history of systemic and institutional racism in our 
country; and 

  
WHEREAS,  Juneteenth observances have been held across the country to recognize the 

emancipation of slaves while encouraging self-development and respect for all cultures; 
and 

  
WHEREAS, News of the end of slavery did not reach the frontier areas of the United States until 

months after the conclusion of the Civil War, more than 2 ½ years after Abraham Lincoln 
issued the Emancipation Proclamation on January 1, 1863; and 

 
WHEREAS,  The faith and strength of character demonstrated by former slaves and descendants of 

slaves remain an example for all people, regardless of background, religion or race; and 
 
WHEREAS,  The City of Bexley has made a commitment to healing the wounds of our own City’s 

history and to providing opportunities to engage our residents in education and 
conversation on issues surrounding bias, racism and privilege; and 

 
WHEREAS,  Bexley strives to be a welcoming and diverse community where all are included, feel safe 

and connected and are fully valued;       
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO:  
 
Section 1. 
That section 262.02 (c)(3) shall be amended as follows: 
 
      (3)   Holidays. 
         A.    Police Chief and Captain. Holidays for the Police Chief and Police Captain will be as follows: 
             New Year's Day 
            Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
            President's Day 
            Memorial Day 
            Juneteenth 

Page 60 of 119



            Labor Day 
            Bexley Day (Marking the day of Bexley’s founding - observed second Monday in August) 
            Veterans Day 
            Thanksgiving Day 
            Friday following Thanksgiving Day 
            Christmas Day 
 
         Exempt employees shall not be entitled to holiday pay above and beyond normal salary. 
 
         B.    All other Schedule I employees. Holidays for all other Schedule I employees will be as follows: 
            New Year's Day 
            Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
            Presidents Day 
            Memorial Day 
            Juneteenth 
            Independence Day 
            Bexley Day (Marking the day of Bexley’s founding - observed second Monday in August) 
            Labor Day 
            Thanksgiving Day 
 
Section 2.    
That this Ordinance shall go into full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by law. 
 

Passed __________________, 2021 

 

      _______________________________ 

      Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council  

 

Attest: __________________, 2021 

 William Harvey, Clerk of Council  

 

       

Approved: _________, 2021 

   

 

 

      ______________________ 

Page 61 of 119



                      Benjamin Kessler, Mayor  

 

First Reading:    June 8, 2021 

Second Reading:   

Third Reading:   

Page 62 of 119



ORDINANCE NO.  29 - 21 
 

 By:  Troy Markham 
 

An Ordinance to amend 618.15 (Dogs on City Park and Recreational Property), to regulate the 
admittance of service animals in city parks. 

 
Whereas, The current law of Bexley requires that service animals brought into city parks 
must be specifically licensed as such; and 
 
Whereas, According to Ohio Revised Code, service dogs are not required to have a 
specialized license registration tag beyond the same licensing rules that apply for all dogs, and 
the current Americans with Disabilities Act  (ADA) also states entities may not require such 
documentation as a condition of entry; and 
 
Whereas,  A “service animal” is defined by the ADA as: any dog that is individually trained 
to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability, including a 
physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental disability. 

  
Whereas, This proposed ordinance has been created to update the policy concerning 
service animals on city parks to align with current ADA policies and requirements;  

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO: 
 

Section 1: That Section 618.15 (a) be amended to read as follows: 
 
618.15 DOGS ON CITY PARK AND RECREATIONAL PROPERTY. 
(a)   No person shall permit a dog to go or be any domestic or companion animal upon any part 
of Jeffrey Park or Commonwealth Park, except a dog accompanying a blind, deaf or mobility 
impaired person and displaying a registration tag issued service animal accompanying a person 
with a disability.  For the purpose of this section, “service animal” is defined as any dog that is 
individually trained to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a 
disability, including a physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental disability. 
 
Section 2. That this Ordinance shall go into effect, and be in force from and after the earliest 
period allowed by law. 

 
 
 Passed:    , 2021 
 
 
            
      Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council 
 
 
 Attest:        

Page 63 of 119



   William Harvey, Clerk of Council 
 
 
      Approved:______________, 2021 
 
 
            
      Benjamin J. Kessler, Mayor 
 

First Reading: 
 

Page 64 of 119



ORDINANCE NO.   30 - 21 
 
By:  Troy Markham 
 

An ordinance to create the position of “Chief Executive Assistant” 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO:  
 
Section 1. 
That the position of “Chief Executive Assistant” is hereby created, with the following corresponding pay 
scale: 
 
Step 1 $52,431 
Step 2 $57,030 
Step 3 $61,630 
Step 4 $66,229 
Step 5 $70,828 
Step 6 $75,427 
Step 7 $80,026 
 
Section 2.    
That this Ordinance shall go into full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by law. 
 

Passed __________________, 2021 

 

      _______________________________ 

      Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council  

 

Attest: __________________, 2021 

 William Harvey, Clerk of Council  

 

       

Approved: _________, 2021 

   

 

 

      ______________________ 

Page 65 of 119



                      Benjamin Kessler, Mayor  

 

First Reading:    June 22, 2021 

Second Reading:   

Third Reading:   

Page 66 of 119



ORDINANCE NO.  31 - 21 
 
By:  Troy Markham 
 

An ordinance to create section 262.02 (c)(14)(A)(4), Vacation Accrual for New Employees, and to 
amend Section 262.02(c)(14)(D), Credit for Prior Service, to provide for credit for prior service to 

employees. 
 
WHEREAS, 
  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO:  
 
Section 1. 
That section 262.02 (c)(14)(A)(4) shall be created as follows: 
 
(4) Vacation Accrual for New Employees.  With approval of the Mayor and the Auditor, new 
employees with substantial workplace experience may be provided with up to 80 hours of paid vacation 
accrual. 
 
Section 2. 
That section 262.02(c)(14)(D) shall be amended  as follows: 
 
         D.    Credit for Prior Service. Newly hired employees may be granted service credit for vacation 
accrual pursuant to their prior public full time employment experience with another municipality within 
the State of Ohio.  
 
Newly hired employees are not eligible for vacation during their first year of City employment, provided 
that the Mayor may grant vacation during the first year of City employment for management positions on 
a case-by-case basis.  
 
Section 3.    
That this Ordinance shall go into full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by law. 
 

Passed __________________, 2021 

 

      _______________________________ 

      Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council  

 

Attest: __________________, 2021 

 William Harvey, Clerk of Council  

Page 67 of 119



 

       

Approved: _________, 2021 

   

 

 

      ______________________ 

                      Benjamin Kessler, Mayor  

 

First Reading:    June 8, 2021 

Second Reading:   

Third Reading:   

Page 68 of 119



RESOLUTION NO.  05 - 21 
 
By: Richard Sharp 
 

A Resolution approving the 2021 Bicycle Friendly Bexley Plan 
 

Whereas,   Bexley is a compact community with a comparatively flat topography, and a grid street 
system that makes biking convenient and easy, and 
 
Whereas,   Bexley has a large population of children who need outlets to safe outdoor activities in 
order to provide a health balance to the time children spend indoors at school, and on electronic 
devices; and 
 
Whereas,   Bexley residents value a healthy lifestyle that biking can contribute to; and 
 
Whereas,   Bexley residents are conscientious of environmental concerns that are exasperated by 
short automobile trips that could be mitigated by biking; and 
 
Whereas,  Bexley’s network of secondary streets, sidewalks, and speed control policies present a 
baseline pedestrian and cyclist environment that will benefit from further bicycle infrastructure and 
policy improvements;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO:  
 
Section 1.   That the 2021 Bicycle Friendly Bexley Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby approved 
as an aspirational guide for the City Administration to implement as street construction projects and 
funding sources warrant.   
 
Section 2.   That this Resolution shall go into full force and effect at the earliest period allowed by law. 
 
 
Passed __________________, 2021 
 
      _______________________________ 
      Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council  
 
Attest: __________________, 2021 
 William Harvey, Clerk of Council  Approved: _________, 2021 
 
      ______________________ 
                     Benjamin Kessler, Mayor  
First Reading:  05-11-2021 
Second Reading:   
Third Reading:   

Page 69 of 119



  

 
 
 
 
 

SCOPE OF WORK 
May 25, 2021 

To: Mayor Kessler 
Organization: City of Bexley 
From: Catherine Girves 
Project: Bicycle Friendly Bexley 
 
Re: Recommendations 

 
 

Bexley is well positioned to become one of the most bicycle friendly communities with the highest ridership in the 
region.  

Bexley is a manageable 2.5 square miles with relatively flat topography. The approximately 48 miles of public 
roadway is primarily made up of low speed neighborhood streets. It is possible for residents to get daily needs 
met within the city. There are preschools, public and private schools to serve students from kindergarten through 
high school, and Capital University. Bexley has well supported parks, recreational facilities, and a library. The 
business community includes numerous restaurants, grocers, and a variety of other retail establishments 
including a bike shop. There are many places of worship representing a variety of faith traditions. A variety of 
housing types are available at many different price points, including market rate home ownership and rental, 
subsidized rental, and group living facilities.  

Employment is available within the city boundaries and one of the largest employment centers in the region, 
Downtown Columbus, is within an easy bike or bus ride. That area is connected to another significant 
employment center, the University District by way of the Olentangy Trail and high frequency transit. Healthcare, 
including three world class hospitals are a short bike or bus ride outside the city limits. 

There are also external supports for residents of Bexley choosing to travel by bike. High frequency transit travels 
through the community and each vehicle has racks for 2 bicycles. The Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 
provides a free insurance program that will pay for a cab ride, including tip, home from work up to four times/year 
for people commuting by bike or other sustainable means of transportation who have an unexpected emergency. 
AAA provides a bicycle break down service as part of its regular membership. CoGo bike share has three bike 
share docking stations in Bexley that connect to a larger regional network and include standard bikes and pedal 
assist e-bikes. CoGo bike share offers membership at a variety of levels including one that is accessible to people 
with low income.  

Elected leadership is supportive of bicycle friendly initiatives. Volunteer community leaders advocate for the 
creation of a bicycle friendly community. Children lobby for more bike parking. Many regular residents, of all ages 
and abilities, already regularly travel by bike. 

  

Page 70 of 119



 2 

This does not mean change will be easy. Creating a bicycle friendly community in a national and regional 
environment built for car travel and in a culture that regularly shames people who don’t drive will not be easy. But 
the City of Bexley has a history of bold leadership, persistently working to address impediments, and succeeding 
at hard tasks.  

Between the fall of 2019 and the spring of 2021, amidst many distractions, leaders and residents of Bexley 
dedicated time and creativity to imagine and plan for a more bicycle friendly community. Clearly creating a more 
bicycle friendly is a priority. Bexley is well positioned to succeed at becoming one of the most bicycle friendly 
communities in Central Ohio with the highest ridership in the region.  

Infrastructure Recommendations  
Investments in infrastructure have been shown to influence the behavior of people driving, the comfort of people 
biking, and the real and perceived safety of all road, sidewalk, and trail users. The goal of these infrastructure 
recommendations is to increase safety and comfort of all who currently bike and those who are interested in 
biking who don’t currently feel comfortable doing so.  

Create Four Bicycle Boulevard Routes  

Bicycle Boulevards are streets with low motorized traffic volumes and speeds, designated and designed to give 
people traveling by bicycle priority. Bicycle Boulevards use signs, pavement markings, and speed and volume 
management measures to discourage through trips by motor vehicles and create safe, convenient bicycle 
crossings of busy arterial streets. More information on bicycle boulevards is available here  
https://nacto.org/publication/urban-bikeway-design-guide/bicycle-boulevards/  

The following routes cover approximately 8 miles (16% of Bexley streets) on low stress streets connecting 
residents to common destinations in Bexley including all public schools, the library, parks, affordable housing, and 
to travel directly to or within a short block of primary business districts. 

Cassingham/Roosevelt route 

§ Cassingham Road from Delmar Drive to Fair Avenue 
§ Fair Avenue (both sides) from Cassingham Road to Roosevelt Avenue 
§ Roosevelt Avenue from Fair Avenue to Livingston Avenue 
§ Incorporates a loop around the school complex along Elm Avenue from Cassingham Road to Stanwood 

Road; and Stanwood Road from Elm Avenue to Fair Avenue 
The Cassingham/Roosevelt route is 2.6 miles and runs the entire north/south length of Bexley. The route includes 
Cassingham Elementary, the Middle and High Schools, and is within a .4 mile of Broad Street destinations 
including Columbus School for Girls, several places of worship and an apartment complex. The 
Cassingham/Roosevelt route crosses Broad Street, Main Street, and Livingston Avenue at existing traffic lights. 
This route intersects with the Maryland route, the Sherwood route, and the Sheridan/Mound route. 

Sherwood route 

§ Sherwood Road (entire length) from Gould Road to Drexel Avenue  
§ Drexel Avenue from Sherwood Road to Bryden Road 
§ Bryden Road from Drexel Avenue to Westland Avenue 
§ Westland Avenue from Bryden Road to Park Hill Drive 
§ Park Hill Drive to the Alum Creek Trail on ramp 
§ with a spur at Remington Road from Sherwood Road to Mound Street 

Page 71 of 119



 3 

The Sherwood route is 1.4 miles and runs the entire east/west length of Bexley. This route travels directly to 
Montrose Elementary, the Alum Creek Trail, and parallel to the Main Street business corridor. The addition of 
wayfinding signs at Parkview, Drexel, Dawson, Cassady, Cassingham, Remington, Roosevelt, and Gould would 
facilitate easy travel from this route to Main Street businesses. This route intersects with the Maryland route, 
Sheridan/Mound route and the Cassingham/Roosevelt route. This route also connects Bexley to downtown 
Columbus (via the Oak Street Bike Blvd); the Jewish Community Center (via the Alum Creek Trail); and regional 
recreational riders (via the Alum Creek Trail) to the Main Street business corridor. The Sherwood route includes 
crossing at the existing Main Street traffic light. 

The addition of a drinking fountain/bottle fill station, bike fix-it station, and a larger wayfinding sign including a map 
of the Main Street business corridor placed at Park Hill would encourage Alum Creek Trail travelers to patronize 
Bexley businesses and accommodate residents. 

The comfort of traveling this route would be improved by adding a bike lane on Drexel Avenue. 

Sheridan/Mound route 

§ Sheridan Avenue (entire length) to Main Street 
§ Mound Street (entire length) from Sheridan Avenue to Chelsea Avenue  
§ with a connection to the Sherwood route via Main Street from Sheridan Avenue to Drexel Avenue, and Drexel 

Avenue from Main Street to Bryden Road  
The Sheridan/Mound route is 1.8 miles and runs north/south in South Bexley and east/west parallel to the Main 
Street business corridor. This route travels directly to destinations at Schneider Park (shelter house, playground, 
community gardens and athletic fields), Capital University, Trinity Lutheran Seminary, Montrose Elementary, and 
five apartment complexes as well as affordable housing on Ferndale Place and Mayfield Place. The 
Sheridan/Mound route includes existing traffic lights at College Avenue, Drexel Avenue and Livingston Avenue. 

The addition of wayfinding signs at College, Pleasant Ridge, Euclaire, Cassingham, Montrose, Remington, 
Vernon, Roosevelt, Grandon, and Chelsea would facilitate easy travel from this route to Main Street businesses. 
This route includes two CoGo bike share stations and intersects with the Sherwood route and the 
Cassingham/Roosevelt route. 

The comfort of traveling this route would be improved by adding a bike lane on Drexel Avenue and a bike lane or 
sharrows on Main Street. 

Maryland route 

§ Cassady Avenue from the Railroad tracks to Maryland Avenue 
§ Maryland Avenue (entire length) from Gould Road to Parkview Avenue 
§ Parkview Avenue from Maryland Avenue to Main Street 
§ Main Street from Parkview Avenue to Sheridan Avenue 
§ Clifton Avenue from Parkview Avenue to the Alum Creek Trail 
The Maryland route is 2.5 miles and runs the entire east/west length of Bexley. This route includes the Cassady 
business corridor, Maryland Elementary, Commonwealth Park destinations at Jeffrey Park (Jeffery Mansion, 
Historical Society, swimming pool), the Alum Creek Trail, and Cassady North Apartments. This route includes the 
existing traffic light at Cassady and Maryland, as well as traffic lights to cross Broad Street, Main Street, and 
Nelson Avenue. This route includes a CoGo bike share station and intersects with the Cassingham/Roosevelt 
route and the Sherwood route.  

It also connects to common destinations west, south, and north of the City of Bexley. Downtown Columbus is 
accessible via the Greenway Avenue bike lane/Mt. Vernon traffic calming/Spring Street bike lane. The Jewish 

Page 72 of 119



 4 

Community Center is accessible via the Alum Creek Trail. This route connects to the Nelson Road bike lanes. 
Connections north are coming via the City of Columbus multi use path planned for Cassady Avenue. 

The comfort of traveling this route would be improved by adding a multi-use path on Cassady Avenue and a bike 
lane on Main Street. 

Alum Creek Trail  

There is a need for surface maintenance on the section of the Alum Creek Trail that runs through the City of 
Bexley between Broad Street and Clifton Avenue. Tree roots have destabilized the asphalt, creating trip hazards 
and an uneven surface. Other jurisdictions with longer components of trail in the Central Ohio Greenway system 
have experience with this type of maintenance and could be a resource for solutions. 

Three additional BIG IDEAS also emerged related to the Alum Creek Trail.  

Bicycle Pedestrian Bridge 
There is interest in creating improved access from south Bexley and a better connection between the Main Street 
business corridor and the Alum Creek Trail. This could be achieved by investing in a bicycle/pedestrian only 
bridge across Alum Creek south of Main Street. The bridge would connect Bexley on the east side of the bridge to 
a portion of the Alum Creek Trail in Columbus on the west side of the bridge. This would require a partnership 
with the City of Columbus. 

Underpasses at Main Street and Livingston Avenue 
The Alum Creek trail has an underpass at Broad Street but crosses at the street level at both Main Street and 
Livingston Avenue. Both these crossings are signalized but people on bikes compete with frequent motor vehicle 
turning activity on each end of these wide and loud intersections. Ideal improvements would include an underpass 
option of these streets, though the Main Street crossing could also be improved in the short term with a better 
alignment. Both projects fall outside of Bexley’s city limits. There is interest in supporting the City of Columbus in 
considering these efforts. 

Main Street 

Main Street is approximately 50’ wide destination-rich business corridor with buildings fronting the sidewalk and 
street. It is also a high frequency transit route, and a U.S. Route connecting the cities of Bexley, Whitehall, 
Reynoldsburg, and Columbus. Main Street has one regular travel lane each direction, one parking/travel in lane 
each direction and medians in the center lane. The parking lane typically has at least some car parking though is 
rarely full. Low car travel speeds make Main Street somewhat comfortable for experienced bike riders to travel 
alone as well as some small groups. 

Bike lanes in this corridor could dramatically improve the comfort level for people riding bikes, but the appetite to 
remove on street parking does not currently exist. The business community has concerns that the loss of on 
street car parking would reduce the number of customers. Research from other communities has found that 
corridors where bike lanes are added experience increases in sales, (as measured by sales tax revenue). 

A few conservative first steps to improving the bike friendliness of Main Street include: 

Bike Parking 
Increasing bike parking in the public right of way to accommodate people already willing to travel Main Street by 
bike. If demand increases beyond the capacity of the sidewalk, on street bike parking is an option which allows a 
single on street car parking space to accommodate 10 bike parking spaces. 

  

Page 73 of 119



 5 

Sharrows and “Bike May Use Full Lane” Signs 
Adding sharrows and “Bike May Use Full Lane” signs to the regular travel lane. The coupling of these tools 
reinforces the legitimacy of bicycle traffic on the street to motorists and recommends proper lane position for 
riders. Research shows sharrows also reduce sidewalk riding, encourage riders to travel in a visible and 
predictable lane position, reduce crashes caused by people opening car doors into the path of people on bikes, 
and encourage safe passing behavior. This solution sends a cue to drivers, riders, and law enforcement, that 
bikes belong on Main Street.  

Open Streets 
In intermediate step would be to test the idea that accommodating people who ride bikes increases customers to 
businesses. This could be done through a monthly Open Streets program for one or two seasons. Open Streets 
look like special events but are often led by local governments and partners to accomplish policy goals like 
creating a culture that supports active transportation and bringing new customers to local businesses. 
Partnerships with the Bexley Area Chamber and other community organizations as well as a strong evaluation 
tool would be important components of an Open Street program designed to test the viability of bike 
infrastructure. If accommodating people who bike can be shown to be beneficial for businesses in the Main Street 
corridor, concerns about removing on street parking to accommodate bike lanes on Main Street could greatly 
diminish. 

Broad Street 

Broad Street is approximately 50’ wide primarily residential corridor with large lots. It is also home two private 
school campuses, and three large places of worship. Most building setbacks fall between 50’-100’ with several 
buildings set back 200’ from the street. It is a high frequency transit route, and a U.S. Route connecting the cities 
of Bexley, Whitehall, Reynoldsburg, and Columbus. Broad Street has one regular travel lane each direction, one 
parking/travel lane each direction, and medians in the center lane. Sharrows are placed in the parking/travel lanes 
closest to the sidewalks. Broad street is lined with mature trees on both sides and young trees in the relatively 
newly installed medians.  

The parking lane is often underutilized, and Broad Street has more capacity then it needs. These conditions 
induce higher travel speeds and encourage the corridor to function as a cut through particularly when traffic is 
reported to be congested on the freeways. Broad Street is loud and stressful for even the most experienced bike 
riders who typically ride in the underutilized parking lanes.  

Community interest was mixed in making significant investment in the bike friendliness of Broad Street during the 
community engagement process. It should be noted that the street design of Broad Street is almost the same as 
Main Street, though land use is dramatically different. A combination of the lack of destinations and some 
hopelessness that anything could improve conditions for people biking may explain those with low interest. Some 
residents were passionate about making improvements to improve bike friendliness. Those residents indicated a 
preference for a multi-use path on one side of the street. If this treatment were considered, thought about how to 
address the many driveways in the corridor would need to be considered to address those intersections. The 
current sharrows are faded. If they remain, they need to be repainted and consideration should be given to 
moving placement those outside the parking lane to the regular travel lane and adding “Bikes May Use Full Lane” 
signs to the corridor. Broad Street begs for traffic calming.  

Broad Street is a regional corridor and ideally would be considered in a regional context. When thought about in a 
regional context, Broad Street might be an ideal priority corridor for dedicated transit or bike lanes through 
multiple jurisdictions. This would address missing east/west connectivity for those modes for the region and assist 
with needed traffic calming in the City of Bexley. 

Page 74 of 119



 6 

Drexel Avenue 

Drexel Avenue between Broad Street and Main Street is a wide corridor with traffic calming initiatives planned in 
the next few years. Protected bike lanes would not only accommodate people biking, they would also assist with 
traffic calming measures.  

The case for protected bike lanes includes a dramatic improvement in how comfortable people would feel riding 
bikes on Drexel Avenue. There is plenty of right of way to add bike lanes without having to consider widening the 
street or reducing travel lanes. Bike lanes on Drexel could eventually be extended to connect to Cassady Avenue 
which has a multi-use path planned for construction in the Columbus portion just north of Bexley. This would 
connect the Main Street business corridor to a wider audience of potential customers and employees traveling by 
bike. 

The primary case against bike lanes is the loss of on street automobile parking. It would no longer be possible to 
park cars on both sides of the streets. On street parking appears to be highly underutilized by residents, though 
the Columbus School for Girls drivers regularly use of on street parking with significant activity happening during 
school drop off and pick up times. Other on street parking options are available in the blocks surrounding the 
school. Additionally, over 200 underutilized parking spaces exist in three surface parking lots within .5 mile of 
Columbus School for Girls during school hours. Half a mile is a 10-minute easy walk, or a 2 to 5-minute easy bike 
ride. Over 150 spaces can be found at two public parks: Bexley’s Jeffery Park and Columbus’ Wolfe Park. A bike 
share station is co-located at the lot at Jeffrey Park. If the primary impediment car parking for Columbus School 
for Girls, one potential solution is to create shared use agreements that allow the use of idle spaces. 

A temporary demonstration project may be an ideal way to evaluate the impact of protected bike lanes on Drexel 
Avenue. Temporary demonstration projects are an intermediate step allowing community members and leaders to 
understand how a new street design might work before committing permanently to the change. Temporary 
protected bike lanes could be installed using planters reducing the width of regular travel lanes creating a 
protected riding experience for people on bikes and adding beauty to the street. Those lanes could be placed one 
in each direction on each side of the street, or as a wider bi-directional bike lane down the center of the street. 
The advantages and disadvantages to each configuration need to be more closely examined 

Cassady Avenue 

Cassady Avenue could be considered for a multi-use path to connect bike accommodations from the City of 
Columbus to the City of Bexley, particularly if bike lanes on Drexel Avenue and or Main Street are considered. 
Beyond increasing the comfort for people traveling by bike within Bexley, this would connect the Main Street 
business corridor to a wider audience of potential customers and employees traveling by bike. 

Corridor Planning 

Transit corridor planning examining regional east/west connections is currently underway. As Bexley leadership is 
engaged in this process, the impact of the comfort level of people biking on or across potential corridors should be 
prioritized. The interaction of transit with biking as a first or last mile solution will be an important factor in 
determining whether Bexley residents’ access to these sustainable forms of transportation or whether transit 
functionally passes through the community.  

  

Page 75 of 119



 7 

Bicycle Scale Wayfinding Signs 

Bicycle scale way finding signs would assist residents and visitors traveling on low stress streets and trails to 
destinations on the Main Street business corridor. Recommended locations include a connection from the Alum 
Creek Trail, and connections from two of the bicycle boulevards, specifically: 

§ Park Hill at the Alum Creek Trail – A tailhead style map with Main Street destinations highlighting bicycle 
friendly businesses, public restrooms, and public locations to refill water bottles. 

§ Sherwood Road cross streets with Main Street destinations on either side of that cross street 
§ Parkview Avenue 
§ Drexel Avenue 
§ Dawson Avenue 
§ Cassady Avenue 
§ Cassingham Road 
§ Remington Road 
§ Roosevelt Avenue 
§ Gould Road 

§ Mound Street cross streets with Main Street destinations on either side of that cross street 
§ College Avenue  
§ Pleasant Ridge Avenue 
§ Euclaire Avenue 
§ Cassingham Avenue 
§ Montrose Avenue 
§ Remington Road 
§ Vernon Road 
§ Roosevelt Avenue 
§ Grandon Avenue 
§ Chelsea Avenue 

Fix-it Stations 

Fix-It Stations assist residents and visitors with minor fixes by providing tools and pressurized air. Recommended 
locations include: 

§ Schneider Park 
§ Bexley high school middle school complex 
§ Bexley library 
§ Bexley swimming pool 
§ Park Hill at the Alum Creek Trail – In addition to accommodating local residents, a fix it station at this location 

would give regional trail users encouragement to stop. This connected to wayfinding signage to the Main 
Street business district would increase patronage at local Bexley Main Street businesses. 

STOP Signs and Speeding 

Concerns about STOP sign and speeding behavior was frequently in the community engagement process.  

There is a perception that both people driving and people biking do not comply with STOP signs. The observed 
behaviors might be an indication of unwarranted or too many STOP signs which have been shown to discourage 
good driving habits. Studies have shown that when STOP signs are overused or are located where they don’t 
seem to be necessary, some drivers become careless about stopping at them. Further, research has shown that 

Page 76 of 119



 8 

STOP signs are not effective at controlling speeds between intersections. Some drivers increase speed between 
STOP signs making neighborhoods more dangerous. This can be especially dangerous for pedestrians and 
bicyclists who may have a false sense of safety from the existence of a stop sign. More information on problems 
related to unwarranted STOP signs can be found here: 

https://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/intersection/other_topics/fhwasa09027/resources/Iowa%20Traffic%20and%20Safety%
20FS-%20Unsignalized%20Intersections.pdf 

An overall examination of the use of STOP signs may be needed to evaluate existing STOP signs with 
consideration of other traffic control measures to address speeding like road diets, bump outs, or traffic circles. 

Bike Parking 

Increased bicycle parking was frequently requested in meetings and observed as a community need. Specifically, 
the need for increased availability, improved rack design, and better placement. An excellent, free, and short 
guide to bicycle parking can be found here https://www.apbp.org/Publications This link also has more detailed 
resources about bike parking available to purchase.  

Availability 
Adequate bike parking is necessary to encourage travel by bike, reduce theft, and prevent bikes from being 
locked to trees or other infrastructure that may be damaged. Locations reported to have inadequate bike parking 
include the: middle school and high school, Main Street business district, library, pool, City Hall, Jeffrey Mansion, 
recreation areas, and Cassady business district. As the need for bike parking increases beyond the capacity of 
the sidewalk, on street bike parking corrals replace a single car parking space with 10 bike parking spaces.  

Design 
Install bike racks that allow the frame of the bike to touch at two points. This creates a more stable position and 
reduces the possibility that a bike will fall into the right of way causing trip hazards, damaging bikes, and creating 
a messy appearance. This is particularly important for cargo bikes or other bikes that carry heavy loads like 
groceries or children. Racks that allow a lock to be attached to the frame (vs a tire) also improve security of a 
locked bike and reduce theft. 

Placement 
Placement – Place racks in visible, convenient locations, assure proper clearance of frame and tires, and place 
on stable surfaces. Travelers need to be able to predict where bike parking is to use it. Ideal locations are near 
entrances to buildings in locations that don’t impede right of way of pedestrians, particularly people using walkers, 
wheelchairs, or strollers. Placing racks in a visible location can also reduce chance of theft. When placing bike 
racks assure appropriate clearance. Racks placed too close to walls or other street furniture inhibit the full use of 
the rack on one side or prevent the bike from being locked to the frame. Finally, make sure racks are placed on a 
stable surface. Racks placed in mulch or grass, lead to erosion creating unsafe and unpleasant muddy spots to 
park bikes.  

Bike Parking Installation Program 
Some communities have bike parking installation programs to meet public demand and assure appropriate design 
and placement. Business owners or residents make requests for bike rack locations. The city purchases the racks 
then places them on a quarterly to annual basis. 

Special Event 
Finally, special event bike parking should be considered to encourage people to ride to large community events 
like the annual Fourth of July celebration, Main Event, Harvest Festival, and Bexley High School sporting events. 

Page 77 of 119



 9 

Special event bike parking is temporary parking that is typically fenced and staffed to provide security. A local 
non-profit, Urban Scouts, can be hired to handle this, or the City of Bexley could invest in equipment and supplies 
and coordination of staffing.  

Encouragement and Education Recommendations  
Creating safe streets is important component of a bicycle friendly community but educational and encouragement 
campaigns also have a role to play. Educational and encouragement campaigns are effective tools for influencing 
community norms around what type of people ride a bicycle, what purposes they ride them for, and what locations 
and weather conditions are considered appropriate. To be effective, these campaigns need dedicated leaders. 
Programs can be operated by paid staff, interns, volunteers, or a combination, but consistency is necessary for 
success. Investment in equipment and supplies as well as insurance and training are other keys to program 
success. Education and Encouragement campaigns can also typically be instituted much more quickly than street 
infrastructure changes. 

Children 

Significant interest was shown in campaigns designed to serve children and families. The public elementary 
schools, the middle and high school, as well as the two private schools are within easy biking distance of every 
household in Bexley.  

Encouragement 
Encouragement ideas included campaigns to incentivize walking, skating, scooting, or riding a bike to school at 
least one day week. Campaigns that address parental concerns around time spent with children particularly as it 
relates to busy schedules will be important to the success of these programs. Parental concern about safety was 
also identified as a barrier to children biking. Encouragement campaigns like “biking school busses” led by 
parents or other adult volunteers help to assure safe passage for younger riders. 

Education 
Educational campaigns around safe riding practices, particularly experiential education, can be effective at 
increasing parents’ comfort with allowing children to ride to school and other places. Other types of educational 
content include dressing appropriately for various types of weather and solutions for carrying books, paper, and 
electronics in wet weather. This type of information assists with adoption of biking as a year-round activity. 
Incorporating bike rides into the school curriculum or as part of field trips is another way to model and encourage 
safe riding practices in all types of weather. 

Policy 
Setting a policy to create car free school zones for 45 minutes before and after school or no stopping zones 
where that is not possible, were also discussed as a way of discouraging parents from driving children to and from 
school. Significant culture change or charismatic leadership would be necessary for successful adoption of this 
type of policy to be successful at this time.  

Adults 

Encouragement 
Encouragement campaigns give people a reason to ride and are important to creating a culture that normalizes 
biking to move from one place to another. Campaigns can focus on creating group experiences or incentivizing 
people to act on their own. Activities that community members showed interest in included: 

Page 78 of 119



 10 

§ Fun weekly or monthly recreational bike rides that travel at an easy conversational pace accessible to people 
of a variety of abilities, with all types of bikes, and wearing their typical wardrobe. Ride themes, days of the 
week, time of day, and the demographics of leadership all influence the likely populations attracted to rides. 
Identify priority populations and engage people with those demographics to assist in planning and 
implementation to reach prioritized audiences. These types of rides provide outstanding opportunities for 
informal education among participating riders. They also help change cultural norms among both participating 
riders and those who observe them.  

§ Social media games like “photo tag” or “bicycle ride and seek” encourage people to ride on their own for fun. 
Increased solo riding helps to influence cultural norms among riders and those observing them. 

§ Social media campaigns like “show us your grocery trip” encourage people to try new activities by bike and 
learn from the experience of others. 

§ Movie nights with fun inspirational films curated by organizations like “Filmed by Bike” or book discussion 
groups can be helpful in connecting the bike-curious to others currently riding. 

§ A Mayor’s challenge ride could create friendly competition between communities to encourage cultural norms 
around biking. Who doesn’t want to see Mayor Kessler vs Mayor Maggard vs Mayor Ike vs Mayor Ginther? 

§ Bexley Bike Festival to celebrate all things biking and to invite bike people from outside of Bexley to see all 
that is great about living, working, and playing in Bexley. 

Education 
Educational bike rides teach safe riding practices and are effective at helping people interested in riding but 
concerned about safety increase confidence and competence biking under current conditions. Leaders and 
images that break stereotypes of who belongs on a bike are particularly effective at inviting new riders onto 
bicycles. 

Transportation Demand Management 
Transportation demand management campaigns have been led by workplaces, health departments, communities, 
and metropolitan planning organizations to increase biking or other forms of active transportation to regular 
destinations. Both the Columbus Health Department and the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission are piloting 
transportation demand management campaigns and may offer support or resources to consider a similar 
campaign in Bexley. 

Bicycle Friendly Business Programs 
Bicycle Friendly Business programs are run by some communities to encourage bike travel by residents and to 
invite visitors as an economic development tool. Even low-cost simple programs can be effective at inviting new 
customers to businesses. Basic components include marketing through city and chamber websites, trail head 
signage, static clings on participating business windows, and earned media. At a minimum, participating 
businesses offer bike parking, water bottle refills, and access to toilet facilities. Some businesses also have tire 
pumps and patch kits available for people experiencing flat tires or provide discounts to people who bike.  

Given the Alum Creek Trail’s proximity to the Main Street business corridor, a bicycle friendly business program 
has the potential to increase traffic to local businesses from regional trail users and bicycle tourists looking for 
places to rest and refuel. The Alum Creek Trail is an increasingly active regional attraction, part of a north/south 
connection from the Ohio River to Lake Erie, and part of a regional corridor being built across the United States. 
Installing a drinking fountain and fix it station visible from the trail along with signage that promotes local 
businesses could attract people using the trail into Bexley to spend money. Additional promotional opportunities 
are available through multiple bicycle tourism sources.  

Drivers 

Page 79 of 119



 11 

There was little interest in campaigns targeted at driver behavior during this process. Driver behavior may be 
most effectively managed by addressing the street infrastructure.  

Policy Recommendations 

A variety of recommendations in this document could be augmented through changes in policy or code including 
fixed bicycle parking, special event bicycle parking, and car free school zones.  

Other policies to increase bike friendliness and safety might include: 20 is Plenty, examination of snow removal 
policies, Idaho stop/Delaware yield, bicycle subsidies and abandoned bicycle removal policies.   

Further examination beyond this document should be given to the maintenance and infrastructure in the blocks in 
the southwest and northeast corners of Bexley. Maintenance in the form of street sweeping and street signs are 
not consistent with the rest of the community. Infrastructure design separates the southwest corner from the 
larger community grid and sidewalks are missing in the northeast corner. Households in those blocks have bikes 
parked outside and may be more likely to need bikes as a mode of transportation for economic or developmental 
reasons. Equitable infrastructure and maintenance in these areas is necessary for these Bexley residents.  

Evaluation Recommendations 
Evaluation tools are important in understanding the actual impact of most interventions. Good evaluation tools are 
also useful in helping the general public to understand reasons for or against investment in making temporary 
infrastructure projects permanent. Evaluation tools can influence private investment in educational and 
encouragement programming and determine whether these programs are a good use of public dollars. A 
component of each intervention will be well served by an evaluation tool that guides decision making and 
investment. 

Background on the Process to Develop Recommendations  
In 2017 the Mayor of Bexley and the leader of the local bike advocacy group began talking about planning for a 
more bicycle friendly Bexley. By the fall of 2019, the process for understanding existing conditions, researching 
best practices, and gathering community expertise was designed. Public involvement was prioritized as a 
mechanism to drive this process. The recommendations in this document are the product of those efforts.  

Public involvement began at the October 30, 2019 Green Bexley’s sustainable transportation event at City Hall. 
By January of 2020 a steering committee was convened and met four times between January and November of 
2020 to guide the process. Three publicized public meetings were hosted by Mayor Kessler, one at the Bexley 
Public Library in February of 2020, and two virtual meetings (November of 2020 and March of 2021). Additionally, 
stakeholders representing a diverse set of constituencies were invited to participate in five small group bike rides. 
An additional community bike ride open to the public was hosted in the fall of 2020. These planned interactions 
were supplemented by dozens of informal conversations with people who provided valuable input into this 
process. All those interactions combined represent 152 unique participants 

The youngest active participant was in Kindergarten, the oldest are folks in their 70’s and 80’s. Quite a few middle 
schoolers participated, but most of the feedback came from adults - parents, working people, people looking for 
work, and retirees. Some participants have lived in Bexley their whole lives. Others have lived in a variety of 
places including some of the most bicycle friendly cities in the world.  

Many participants already ride bikes and represent the spectrum of riders from recreational slow rollers, fast riders 
who love the long hilly Pelotonia route, and everyday people who are just trying to get to the places required in 
daily life. Many participants want to ride bikes in Bexley but are prevented by a real or perceived barrier. Drivers 

Page 80 of 119



 12 

also provided input – both those who ride bikes and those who don’t. A small group of participants included 
people not at all interested in riding. 

Participants were evenly split between men and women. Most participants represent white residents of Bexley, 
though several Black men and women who regularly ride in or through Bexley participated and offered feedback 
about their experiences riding bikes in Bexley. This document includes the best thinking of all who generously 
engaged in this process.  

These recommendations are designed to serve all who live, work and play in Bexley, though the children of 
Bexley and the residents of south Bexley were identified as priority populations.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

Catherine Girves | Senior Planner 
TOOLE DESIGN 
149 N. High Street | Columbus, OH 43215 
cgirves@tooledesign.com | 614.407.9122 x459 
 

Page 81 of 119



Ordinance 11 - 21  Page 1 of 2 

 
Ordinance 12 - 21 

 
 
By: Richard Sharp 
 
 
An Ordinance to adopt and approve the City of Bexley Electric Aggregation Plan of Operation 

and Governance, and to declare an emergency. 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Bexley (“City”) has determined that it is in the best interest of its residents 
to take action to address the electricity supply requirements of its residents  and, to that end, to 
proceed with creating an electricity aggregation program for the City and its residents (the 
“Program”); and 
 
WHEREAS, on November 6, 2001, the electors of the City of Bexley approved of the City’s plan to 
create an electric aggregation program for customers located within the boundaries of the City; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the City wishes to encourage and facilitate the development of Ohio renewable 
energy projects and, to that end, shall include a 100% renewable content in its City aggregation 
RFP with an emphasis on renewable energy produced or to be produced in Ohio; and  
 
WHEREAS, in order to proceed with an additive renewable electric aggregation program, the City 
must pass the attached Electric Aggregation Plan of Operation and Governance; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City held two public hearings to discuss the Electric Aggregation Plan of Operation 
and Governance, on __________ and on ____________ after two consecutive weeks of 
newspaper publication, in accordance with Ohio Revised Code 4909.28; 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO: 
 
 
Section 1.   
That the City of Bexley Electric Aggregation Plan of Operation and Governance, attached as 
Exhibit A, is hereby adopted and approved. 
 
 
 

Page 82 of 119



Ordinance 11 - 21  Page 2 of 2 

Section 2.   
That this Ordinance is hereby declared to be an emergency measure immediately necessary for 
the preservation of the public health, peace, and safety and shall go into full force and effect 
upon the approval of the Mayor.  
 
 
 
 
Passed: __________, 2021 

 
 
____________________________ 
Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council 

 
 
 
Attest:  ___________________________ 
            William Harvey, Clerk of Council 
 
 
      Approved:___________, 2021 
 
 
 
      _______________________ 
      Ben Kessler, Mayor 
 
 
 
First Reading:  March 9, 2021 
Second Reading:   
Third Reading:   
 

Page 83 of 119



 

 

 City of Bexley, Ohio Municipal 
Electric Aggregation Program 

Plan of Operation and Governance 
Adopted April 23, 2002; Revised ___, 2021 

Overview 

At the November 6, 2001 general election, local residents authorized the City of Bexley ("the 
City") to create a municipal opt-out electric aggregation program ("the Aggregation Program") as 
provided under Section 4928.20 of the Ohio Revised Code. Under the opt-out electric aggregation 
program, all eligible electric consumers within the City's corporation limits will be automatically 
included in the Aggregation Program initially. However, all consumers will also be given the 
opportunity to opt out of or decline participation in the Aggregation Program as detailed herein. 

The City's purpose in creating the Aggregation Program is to represent local consumer interests in 
emerging competitive electricity markets by aggregating electric loads within the City's 
corporation limits (including municipal facilities) and negotiating affordable, reliable electric 
supplies, encouraging renewable energy development and sustainability, and other related services 
on behalf of local consumers. The City may pursue this purpose individually or in cooperation 
with other entities. 

Many small commercial and residential electric consumers lack the leverage to effectively 
negotiate power supply rates and services. A governmental aggregation program provides them 
with an option for professional representation and the bargaining power of a larger, more diverse 
consumer group that may be more attractive to suppliers, allowing them to effectively participate 
in the competitive process and achieve benefits. 

The Aggregation Program is designed to stabilize the amount a consumer pays for electric energy, 
offer renewable and other innovated product offerings, and to gain other favorable economic and 
non-economic terms in service contracts. The City will not buy and resell power, but will represent 
collective consumer interests to set terms and conditions for service. Through a negotiation 
process, the City will develop a contract with a Competitive Retail Electric Services Provider 
(CRES Provider) or Providers for firm all-requirements electric service. The contract will run for 
a fixed term. Once the contract has been finalized, it will be submitted to the Bexley City Council 
for public hearing(s) before being awarded by the City. 

Initially, each eligible consumer within the City's corporation limits will be automatically included 
in the Aggregation Program. However, prior to actual enrollment, each consumer will receive a 
notice from the City detailing the Aggregation Program's rates, terms and conditions. 

Page 84 of 119



 

 

Each consumer will then have a 21-day period to opt out of or decline to participate in the 
Aggregation Program without charge. Consumers opting out of the program will remain on AEP 
Ohio's (AEP's) Standard Offer Generation Service until such time as they select an approved CRES 
Provider. A similar opt-out period will be offered every three years during which time consumers 
can leave the Aggregation Program without paying an early termination fee or switching fee. 

Participants who leave the Aggregation Program and wish to return, as well as consumers who 
move into the City after the initial opt-out period, will be afforded the opportunity to enroll in the 
Aggregation Program. However, the City cannot guarantee rates, terms and conditions to 
consumers enrolling in the Aggregation Program after the initial 21-day opt-out period. 

Participants who relocate within the City limits and retain the same AEP account number will be 
allowed to continue in the Aggregation Program at their new location under the same terms and 
conditions as at their former location, provided the AEP rate classification is the same at both 
locations, and subject to any switching fees imposed by AEP. 

The City will contract with a CRES Provider to implement and operate the Aggregation Program. 
Contracts for power supply and other related services will be negotiated, recommended, and 
monitored for compliance by the City on behalf of local consumers. 

The Aggregation Program covers the power supply or generation portion only of a participant's 
electric bill. AEP will continue to deliver electricity to Aggregation Program participants' homes 
and businesses through its electric transmission and distribution system as a monopoly function 
regulated by the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio (PUCO). AEP will also continue to install, 
operate and maintain its system of poles, wires, transformers and other electric distribution 
components. Aggregation Program participants should continue to call AEP if their power goes 
out or if they have billing questions. The PUCO will continue to oversee AEP's electric safety and 
reliability service standards. 

The City developed this Plan of Operation and Governance in compliance with Ohio law regarding 
municipal opt-out aggregation of electric consumers, including two public hearings prior to its 
adoption. 

Plan of Operation and Governance 

The Bexley City Council shall approve through resolution or ordinance the Aggregation Program's 
Plan of Operation and Governance in accordance with Ohio Revised Code Section 4928.20. 
Amendments to the Plan of Operation and Governance will be subject to Bexley City Council 
approval and filing with the PUCO. 

After adoption of the Plan of Operation and Governance, the City will file with the PUCO for 
governmental aggregator certification and also register as a governmental aggregator with AEP. 

Aggregation Program Management 

Oversight of the Aggregation Program will be the responsibility of the Service Director, who shall 
report to the Mayor. The Service Director, subject to City Council approval, will have the authority 
to develop specifications for the Aggregation Program, to appoint an Aggregation Program 

Page 85 of 119



 

 

Manager, and to select, hire and manage the CRES Provider. The CRES Provider and the 
Aggregation Program Manager will work under the direction of the Service Director with the 
advice and counsel of the City Attorney. 

Due to the complexity of the electric utility industry and the uncertainties of its associated 
restructuring activities, the Service Director may contract with a consultant or consultants to 
provide the necessary expertise to represent the City's interest in legislative and regulatory matters 
and/or to serve as the Aggregation Program Manager. Such services may include, but are not 
limited to facilitating consumer enrollment and opt-out, assisting with consumer education, 
addressing consumer questions and concerns, providing reports on program operation, enrollment 
and savings, negotiating future CRES Provider contracts, and representing the City in dealings 
with CRES Providers, AEP, the Ohio Legislature, the PUCO and the OCC. 

The CRES Provider's rates will include an administrative fee, which shall (if implemented) be 
collected on behalf of the City to fund the implementation and administration of the City's 
Aggregation Program. The administrative fee will be adjusted annually to cover the City's cost of 
administering the program. The fee will be reviewed annually to ensure that the amounts collected 
do not exceed the cost of administering the aggregation program. 

Selection of a CRES Provider 

The City will not buy and resell power to Aggregation Program participants. The City will 
negotiate with potential CRES Providers to provide affordable, reliable electric supplies and other 
electric related services on behalf of local consumers. The City will consider cooperating with 
other governmental aggregators or public aggregators, as permitted by law, if it appears beneficial 
to do so. 

Through a request for proposal (“RFP”) and negotiation process, the City will develop a contract 
with a CRES Provider or Providers for firm, all-requirements service. The City shall have the 
authority to contract with CRES Providers for the provision of 100% renewable energy, with a 
strong preference for Ohio-based renewable energy projects. The City will contract only with a 
CRES Provider or Providers that meet at a minimum the following criteria: 

1. Certified CRES Provider by the PUCO 

2. Registered with AEP 

3. Have a service agreement under AEP's Open Access Transmission Tariff 

4. Successfully completed Electronic Data Interchange (EDI) computer system testing with 
AEP and that CRES Provider's EDI computer system is capable of effectively processing 
Aggregation Program EDI transactions in a timely manner 

5. Meet standards of creditworthiness established by the City 

6. Have a customer call center capable of effectively handling participants' questions, 
concerns and disputes in a timely manner using a toll-free telephone number 

7. Meet the minimum standards and obligations set forth in the RFP issued by the City.  

Page 86 of 119



 

 

8. Hold the City harmless from any financial obligations arising from offering electricity 
and/or energy-related services to Aggregation Program participants.   

The CRES Provider's contract will run for a fixed term (i.e., one to five years) and contain all 
pricing, charges, switching fees, etc. in clear and easily understood terms. 

The City will require any CRES Provider to disclose any subcontractors that it uses in fulfillment 
of the services described herein, 

The Bexley City Council may approve, through resolution or ordinance, the contracts entered into 
by the City with the CRES Provider. 

Electric Supply Charges 

The City will aggregate electric loads within the City's corporation limits (including municipal 
facilities) and negotiate mutually agreeable price terms with CRES Providers for affordable, 
reliable electric supplies and other related services on behalf of local consumers. The City may 
pursue this purpose individually or in cooperation with other entities. CRES Providers will supply 
information on electric supply charges by AEP customer rate classification or other appropriate 
pricing category as approved by the City. All electric supply charges will be fully and prominently 
disclosed in consumer enrollment materials and will be subject to review by the Bexley City 
Council. 

AEP's Regulated Customer Classifications and Rates 

AEP assigns customer rate classifications, character of service and associated regulated rates 
subject to PUCO approved tariffs. In addition to the CRES Provider's generation charges, 
consumers will continue to be billed for AEP's service and delivery charges. Although the City 
may participate in regulatory proceedings and represent the interests of consumers regarding these 
regulated rates, it cannot assign or alter customer rate classifications. 

It is the intention of the city to offer its aggregation program to eligible customers in any and all 
customer classifications, and in all eligible rate categories, for which the CRES Provider can offer 
a stable rate. 

Developing the Pool of Eligible Accounts 

The City shall request AEP to provide current customer information for all customers within the 
municipal boundaries. The provided information shall include: 

Ø Customer name; 

Ø Customer service address; 

Ø Customer billing address; 

Ø AEP customer account number; 

Ø AEP rate code; 

Page 87 of 119



 

 

Ø AEP PIPP code; 

Ø Customer load data; 

Ø Whether or not a customer has a present contract with a CRES Provider; and 

Ø Whether or not a customer has a special service contract with AEP. 

From this information, the City and the CRES Provider will develop the pool of customers eligible 
to participate in the aggregation program, for which the CRES Provider can offer savings. 

Initial Consumer Notification and Enrollment 

After public hearing(s) by the Bexley City Council, and award of the contract by the City, the 
CRES Provider will work with the City and AEP to identify all eligible consumers within the City's 
corporation limits. 

All eligible consumers will be notified in writing of the rates, charges and other terms and 
conditions of participation in the Aggregation Program and that they will be automatically enrolled 
in the Aggregation Program unless they opt out of or decline participation in the program. 
Consumers will be given a 21-day period in which to notify the City that they wish to opt out of 
or decline participation in the Aggregation Program.  Eligible consumers shall be provided with a 
post card or similar notice regarding how consumers can opt-out of the Aggregation Program.  This 
notice shall instruct customers how to opt out and indicate the 21-day period within which 
consumers have the ability to opt out.  The City and the CRES Provider may also use additional 
methods of opting-out, such as telephonic or internet notice, provided that these alternative 
methods allow for verification of a consumer’s election to opt out of the aggregation. Consumers 
opting out of the program will remain on AEP's Standard Offer Generation Service, until such time 
as they select an approved CRES Provider. 

After the initial 21-day opt out period has elapsed, all eligible consumers who have not notified 
the City of their desire to opt out of the Aggregation Program will be enrolled by the CRES 
Provider at the earliest date practicable. The CRES Provider will provide AEP with the required 
90 days enrollment notice for consumers with demand meters. 

Consumers ineligible to participate in the Aggregation Program include those customer accounts 
that are located outside the City's municipal boundaries, customers who are in contract with a 
CRES provider, customers in a "special rate" contract with AEP, Percentage of Income Payment 
Plan (PIPP) consumers and consumers whose accounts are not current with AEP. (The aggregation 
of PIPP customers is under the direction of the State of Ohio.)  

Consumers enrolled in the Aggregation Program by the CRES Provider will receive a letter from 
AEP notifying them of their enrollment. Consumers will have seven calendar days to notify AEP 
of any objection to their enrollment in the Aggregation Program. AEP will notify the CRES 
Provider of consumer objections or any reason that a consumer was not enrolled in the Aggregation 
Program and CRES Provider will maintain a list of customers who have opted out under the 
program rules. The CRES Provider will report to the City the status of Aggregation Program 
enrollment on at least a monthly basis. 

Page 88 of 119



 

 

Leaving the Aggregation Program 

Participants who wish to leave the Aggregation Program may do so: 

• During the initial 21-day opt-out period 

• During subsequent opt-out period offered by the City at least every three years 

• At any other time, with appropriate notice to the CRES Provider, without an early 
termination fee. 

In addition to the initial 21-day opt-out period described above, each participant will be given an 
opportunity to opt out of the Aggregation Program every three years without paying an early 
termination fee. Consumers who choose to opt out of the Aggregation Program at any time other 
than during the initial 21-day opt-out period or during subsequent opt-out periods offered by the 
City may be subject to an early termination fee, if applicable.   The City will offer an opt-out 
aggregation program with no early termination fees.  

Any consumer who opts out of the Aggregation Program will be returned to AEP's Standard Offer 
Generation Service until such time as the consumer selects another approved CRES Provider. 

CRES Provider Responsibilities 

The CRES Provider will build and maintain a database of all Aggregation Program participants. 
The database will include the name, address, AEP service delivery identification (SDI) number 
and may include other pertinent information as agreed upon by the City and the CRES Provider. 
Such information may include the CRES Provider's account number (if different from AEP's SDI 
number), rate code, rider code (if applicable), most recent 12 months of kWh consumption and 
kW demand, and meter reading cycle. The Aggregation Program database will be updated at least 
quarterly. The City will have the right to access information in the database for purposes of 
auditing. 

The City deems any and all information related to an eligible customer to be confidential and 
proprietary trade secret information. The CRES Provider shall keep all eligible customer 
information provided to it by the City or AEP in supplying eligible customers within the City's 
corporation limit confidential and shall not disclose such information to any third party, unless 
such disclosure is required to serve any eligible customer, the third party agrees to keep such 
eligible customer information confidential, and the City consents to the disclosure of such 
information to the third party. 

The CRES Provider will provide and maintain the required Electronic Data Interchange (EDI) 
computer system to effectively process Aggregation Program enrollments, opt outs, billing, etc, 
with AEP. 

The CRES Provider will provide a local or toll free telephone number for participant questions and 
concerns about enrollment, opt-out provisions, billing and other Aggregation Program issues. 

Page 89 of 119



 

 

The CRES Provider will develop internal controls and processes to help ensure that the City 
remains in good standing as a governmental aggregator that complies with all laws, rules and 
regulations regarding the same as they may be periodically amended. 

New and Returning Participants 

Participants who leave the Aggregation Program and wish to return, participants who initially opt 
out of the program and later wish to join, as well as consumers who move into the City after the 
initial opt-out period will be afforded the opportunity to enroll in the Aggregation Program. 
However, the City cannot guarantee rates, terms and conditions to consumers enrolling in the 
Aggregation Program after the initial 21-day opt-out period. Consumers may contact the 
Aggregation Program Manager to obtain current enrollment information. 

Participants who relocate within the City limits and retain the same AEP account number will be 
allowed to continue in the Aggregation Program at their new location under the same terms and 
conditions as at their former location, provided the AEP rate classification is the same at both 
locations, and subject to any switching fees imposed by AEP. 

The CRES Provider will comply with all local, state and federal rules and regulations regarding 
discontinuing service to Aggregation Program participants. 

Opt-In Aggregation 

In addition to the automatic opt-out process, the City may provide customers the ability to 
affirmatively opt-in to the Aggregation Program.  For opt-in aggregation, the CRES Provider shall 
obtain the customer’s affirmative consent directly (in person, by mail or facsimile), telephonically 
or electronically in accordance with the PUCO’s rules.  After completion of the enrollment 
transaction with the customer, the CRES Provider shall send an electronic enrollment request to 
the utility, and the customer will be enrolled in accordance with the PUCO’s rules and procedures 
in the utility’s tariff. 

Modification of Bexley’s Plan 

The Service Director shall have the authority to make modifications to this Plan. Any material 
modification to this Plan shall require City Council approval. The City will comply with O.A.C. 
4901:1-21-16(D) with respect to any modifications to the Plan that materially affect the 
customers of the aggregation.    

Billing 

The City plans to utilize AEP's consolidated billing service in which each consumer account 
receives one bill itemizing the CRES Provider's electric supply charges and AEP's delivery, 
transition and other PUCO-approved charges. The billing statement will be consistent with 
applicable PUCO rules and regulations. The City will consider other billing options, including 
CRES Provider consolidated billing, if and when they become available and if it appears 
advantageous to do so. 

Questions and Concerns 

Page 90 of 119



 

 

The Aggregation Program only impacts the source of generation or power supply. AEP will 
continue to deliver the electricity purchased through the Aggregation Program to participants' 
homes and businesses through its electric transmission and distribution system. Participants with 
question or concerns regarding service delivery or safety, such as a power outage, a downed 
power line, sparking power lines or equipment, low voltage, etc. should continue to contact AEP 
at 800-277-2177. Meter reading or other billing questions should also be directed to AEP at 
888237-5566.  
The selected CRES Provider shall ensure that each participating customer receives a printed 
copy of a toll-free number to call the CRES Provider regarding service problems or billing 
questions.  The CRES Provider shall refer reliability, line repair, or service interruption, and 
billing issues to the local distribution company.  The CRES Provider shall handle all complaints 
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.  Problems regarding the selected CRES 
Provider Service Director and Aggregation Program Manager.  Below is a chart with relevant 
contact information:  
 

Question or Concern Contact Phone Number/e-mail 

Power outage or interruption AEP 800-277-2177 

Turn power on or off AEP 800-277-2177 

Meter reading/billing AEP 888-237-5566 

To enroll in or opt out of the 
Aggregation Program 

CRES Provider  
Hours: 

800-######### 

Aggregation Program  

Questions or concerns 

Service Director or 
Aggregation Program Manager  

 

Unresolved disputes (all 
customers) 

Public Utilities Commission of 
Ohio 

1-800-686-7826 (toll free) or 
for TTY at 1-800-686-1570   

 

Reliability and Indemnification of Consumers 

Electric service reliability is an essential to Aggregation Program participants. The City will 
strive to provide high-quality service and reliability through provisions of the CRES Provider 
contract, through traditional proceedings related to AEP's regulated transmission and 
distribution services; and through direct discussions with AEP concerning specific or general 
problems related to quality and reliability of its transmission and distribution system. 

If for any reason a CRES Provider fails to provide uninterrupted service, the City will attempt 
to acquire an alternative power supply. If this attempt fails, participants will default to AEP's 
Standard Offer Generation Service. In no case will participants be without power as the result 
of the CRES Provider's failure to provide uninterrupted service. The City will seek to minimize 
this risk by contracting only with reputable CRES Providers that demonstrate reliable service. 
The City also intends to include conditions in its CRES Provider contract that will indemnify 

Commented [A1]: Need phone number 

Page 91 of 119



 

 

participants against risks or problems caused by the CRES Provider with power supply service 
and price. 

Participant Rights 

All Aggregation Program participants shall enjoy the protections of law afforded to consumers 
as they currently exist or as they may be amended from time to time. These include rights to 
question billings or service quality or service practices. All program participants shall also enjoy 
the individual right to decline participation in the Aggregation Program subject to the terms and 
conditions contained herein. 

All Aggregation Program participants will be treated equitably. They will be guaranteed the 
right to raise and resolve disputes with the CRES Provider, be provided all required notices and 
information; and always retain the right to opt out of the Aggregation Program or switch 
suppliers subject to the terms and conditions contained herein. 

All consumers within the City's corporation limits shall be eligible to participate in the 
Aggregation Program subject to the terms and conditions described herein, Ohio law, PUCO 
rules and regulation governing electric service, and AEP's approved tariffs. 

Service under the Aggregation Program shall include all eligible customer classes in adherence 
with universal service principles and requirements, and the traditional non-discriminatory 
practices of local government. CRES Provider contracts shall contain provisions to maintain 
these principles and equitable treatment of all customer classes. 

Low-income consumers shall remain subject to all provisions of Ohio law and PUCO rules and 
regulations as they may be amended from time to time regarding their rights to return to AEP's 
Standard Offer Generation Service and participation in the Aggregation Program. 

Participant Responsibilities 

Aggregation Program participants are subject to the same standards and responsibilities as other 
electric consumers, including payment of billings and access to metering and other equipment 
necessary to carry out utility operations. 

Election of Standby Service 

If standby service is approved by the PUCO, Ohio law allows the City to decide whether 
receiving and paying for standby service is in the best interest of the participating Aggregation 
Program customers.  If the City elects not to receive and pay for standby service from the 
distribution utility, the City will inform Opt-Out Aggregation Program customers of its decision 
through an opt-out notice, and will inform Opt-In Aggregation Program customers by regular 
U.S. Mail or electronic mail, depending upon their preference.  The notices will provide 
customers the opportunity to terminate participation in the Aggregation Program without 
penalty, and will inform customers that when they return to the distribution utility, they will be 
charged the market price of power plus any amount attributable to the distribution utility’s 
compliance with the State of Ohio’s alternative energy portfolio standards.  The market price 

Page 92 of 119



 

 

and alternative energy amount will continue to be charged until the end of the approved electric 
security plan, or as otherwise approved by the PUCO. 

Termination of the Aggregation Program 

The Aggregation Program may be discontinued upon the termination or expiration of the CRES 
Provider contract without any extension, renewal or subsequent contract being executed. In the 
event of Aggregation Program termination, each participant will receive notification at least 60 
days prior to such program termination and could return to AEP's Standard Generation Offer 
Service or select another approved CRES Provider. 

Definitions   

Aggregation 

Combining the electric loads of multiple customers for the purposes of supplying or 
arranging for the supply of competitive retail electric service to those customers. 

Aggregation Program Manager 

The person or entity designated by the Service Director to oversee the operation and 
management of the City of Bexley's Municipal Electric Aggregation Program. 

Competitive Retail Electric Service (CRES) 

A component of retail electric service that is deemed competitive under the Ohio 
Revised Code or pursuant to an order of the PUCO. This includes but is not limited to 
the services provided by competitive retail electric service providers, power marketers, 
aggregators and governmental aggregators. 

Competitive Retail Electric Service Provider (CRES Provider) 

A person or entity certified by the PUCO and registered with AEP who supplies or offers 
to supply a competitive retail electric service over AEP's electric transmission and/or 
distribution system. This term does not apply to AEP in its provision of standard offer 
generation service. 

Consumer 

Any person or entity that is an end user of electricity and is connected to any part of 
AEP's electric transmission or distribution system within the City of Bexley's 
corporation limits. 

Delivery Charge 

Charge imposed by AEP for delivering electricity to a consumer's home or business. 
The charge includes meter reading, billing, transition costs, maintaining electric system 
reliability and responding during emergencies and outages (also called the distribution 
charge). 

Page 93 of 119



 

 

Distribution 

The delivery of electricity to a consumer's home or business over AEP's local poles, 
wires, transformers, substations, and other equipment. AEP's distribution system 
operations will remain regulated by the PUCO. 

Electric Related Service 

A service that is directly related to the consumption of electricity at a consumer's home 
or business. This may include, but is not limited to, the installation of demand side 
management measures at a consumer's premises, the maintenance, repair or replacement 
of appliances, lighting, motors or other energy-consuming devices at a consumer's 
premises, and the provision of energy consumption measurement and billing services. 

Electric Supply Charge 

All charges related to the generation of electricity by the CRES Provider. 

Governmental Aggregator 

An incorporated village or city, township or county acting as an aggregator for the 
provision of a CRES under authority conferred under Section 4928.20 of the Ohio 
Revised Code. 

Kilowatt (kW) 

A kilowatt is 1,000 watts 

Kilowatt-hour (kWh) 

A kilowatt-hour is 1,000 watts of electricity used for one hour. For example, a 1,000-
watt appliance operating for one hour or a 100-watt light bulb operating for ten hours 
will consume one kilowatt-hour of electricity. Consumers are charged for electricity in 
cents per kilowatt-hour. 

  Ohio Consumers' Counsel (OCC) 

The Ohio Consumers' Counsel (OCC) was established by the Ohio Legislature in 1976 
to represent the interests of Ohio's four million residential utility customers served by 
investor-owned utilities in proceedings before the PUCO, other regulatory agencies and 
in the courts. The OCC also educates consumers about utility issues and resolves 
complaints individuals have with investor-owned utility companies. 

Page 94 of 119



 

 

Participant 

A consumer enrolled in the City of Bexley's Municipal Electric Aggregation 
Program. 

  Public Utilities Commission of Ohio (PUCO) 

The state agency charged with assuring all consumers (residential commercial and 
industrial) served by investor-owned utilities have access to adequate, safe, and reliable 
utility services at fair prices. The PUCO regulates a wide variety of investor-owned 
utilities, including electric, natural gas, pipeline, heating/cooling, local telephone, long 
distance telephone, waterworks, wastewater, railroad, household goods carriers, water 
transportation, hazardous materials carriers, and commercial transportation carriers. 

Standard Offer Generation Service 

The electric generation service a consumer will receive from AEP (the default electric 
service provider) if the customer does not choose a CRES Provider. 

 

 

Page 95 of 119



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 23-21 
 
By:  Klingler 
 

An Ordinance accepting the donation of an Access Easement, Conservation 
Easement and 3.167± acres of real property adjacent to and east of Alum Creek to 
the City of Bexley. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Howard Belford, Trustee of The 361 North Parkview Trust dated January 31, 
2006 (“Trustee”) is the owner of two adjacent parcels of real property located in the City of 
Bexley being Franklin County Auditor’s Parcel No. 020-000115 adjacent to Alum Creek with a 
street address of the rear of 361 N. Parkview Avenue (Exhibit 1 Parcel Two) and approximately 
1.39± acres of real property being Franklin County Auditor’s Parcel No. 020-001971 adjacent to 
Parkview Avenue with a street address of 361 N. Parkview Avenue (Exhibit 1 Parcel One), all as 
shown on Exhibit 1; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Trustee has offered to donate and convey to the City of Bexley a 
Conservation Easement on approximately 3.167± acres of the western portion of its land 
adjacent to Alum Creek to be used for the protection and preservation of the natural habitat 
and protection and maintenance of riparian rights associated with Alum Creek (the 
“Conservation Easement”), as shown in the Conservation Easement attached as Exhibit 2; and 
 

WHEREAS, Trustee has also offered to donate and convey to the City of Bexley title to 
the 3.167 acre vacant western portion of its land adjacent to Alum Creek by deed to the City as 
shown in the deed attached as Exhibit 3 (the “Property”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, Trustee has also offered to donate and convey to the City of Bexley an 
Access Easement for access from North Parkview Avenue over Trustee’s remaining adjacent 
property to the Conservation Easement area and real property being donated at the rear of 
361 N. Parkview as shown on Exhibit 1 and shown and described in the Access Easement 
attached as Exhibit 4 (the “Access Easement”); and 
 

WHEREAS, Trustee’s remaining 1.175 acre eastern portion of Trustee’s Parcel Two 
described in Exhibit 5 shall be combined with Trustee’s adjacent Parcel One being Franklin 
County Auditor’s Parcel No. 020-001971 comprised of 1.39± acres including Lots 1 and 2 and a 
strip of thirty feet (30’) on the north side of Lot 1 of Block 1 of the Bullitt Park plat recorded in 
Plat Book 4, Page 416 (Instrument No. 19000101000762), to create a combined tract of land 
comprised of 2.565± acres located at 361 N. Parkview Avenue in the City of Bexley that is 
adjacent to Parkview Avenue and improved with a single family residence; and 

 
WHEREAS, Trustee is required to receive the approval of Bexley Board of Zoning and 

Planning prior to the conveyance of a portion of an existing tract of real property (the western 
portion of Parcel Two) and the combination of remaining parcels of Trustee’s real property (the 

Page 96 of 119



 

 

eastern portion of Parcel Two and all of Parcel One) into a single tract of land as provided in the 
Bexley codified ordinances; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the interest and benefit of the City of Bexley and public at large that 
the City accept the donation of such Conservation Easement, Real Property and Access 
Easement to each. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Bexley, County of 
Franklin, State of Ohio, that: 
 
Section 1. The City of Bexley accepts donation of a 3.167± acre easement from Howard 

Belford, Trustee of The 361 North Parkview Trust dated January 31, 2006 to the 
City of Bexley at the rear of 361 North Parkview and adjacent to Alum Creek for 
conservation purposes as and for public use, by a Conservation Easement in a 
form substantially similar to the Conservation Easement attached hereto as 
Exhibit 2. 

Section 2. The City of Bexley accepts donation of 3.167± acres of real property from 
Howard Belford, Trustee of The 361 North Parkview Trust dated January 31, 
2006 to the City of Bexley, by Deed in a form substantially similar to the Fiduciary 
Deed attached hereto as Exhibit 3.  The Trustee shall pay, and be responsible for 
the payment of, any and all real property taxes and assessments that are, or that 
may become due, if any, on the land being deeded to the City herein, up to the 
time the deed is recorded with the Office of the Franklin County Recorder. 

Section 3. The City of Bexley accepts donation of an easement for access to the 
Conservation Easement and real property being donated from Howard Belford, 
Trustee of The 361 North Parkview Trust dated January 31, 2006 to the City of 
Bexley in a form substantially similar to the Access Easement attached hereto as 
Exhibit 4.   

Section 4. The proposed subdivision and combination of parcels proposed by Howard 
Belford, Trustee must be reviewed and approved by the Bexley Board of Zoning 
and Planning as provided in the codified ordinances of the City of Bexley before 
any donation of real property to the City is recorded. 

Section 5. The Mayor is authorized to do all acts and to execute all agreements and 
instruments appropriate or necessary to facilitate and carry out the donation 
and acceptance of the property and property interests identified in this 
ordinance, and to make any minor modifications to the instruments attached to 
this ordinance that are necessary to carry out the intent of this ordinance and 
the recording of the deed and easements. 

Section 6. This Ordinance shall become effective from and after the earliest period 
provided by law. 

Page 97 of 119



 

 

 
Passed __________________, 2021 

     ________________________________ 
      Lori Ann Feibel, President of Council  
 
 
Attest: ______________________________ 
 William Harvey, Clerk of Council 
  
      Approved: ___________________, 2021 
 
 
 
      __________________________________ 
      Ben Kessler, Mayor  
 
First Reading:   
Second Reading:   
Third Reading:   
Passed: 
 
 
108433\000002\4835-2929-8151v5 

Page 98 of 119



ORDINANCE EXHIBIT 1Page 99 of 119



Page 100 of 119



 

1 
 

CONSERVATION EASEMENT 

 

 For no consideration and solely as a charitable donation of a partial interest in real estate 

constituting a "qualified conservation contribution" as defined under §170(f)(3)(B)(iii) of the 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") to an organization constituting a "qualified 

organization" as defined under §170(h) of the Code, HOWARD BELFORD TRUST ("Grantor"), 

as owner of the real property described on Exhibit A (the "Property"), does hereby grant and 

convey to the CITY OF BEXLEY, a municipal corporation ("Grantee"), a perpetual, exclusive 

easement upon the Property for the exclusive purpose of advancing the Conservation Purpose 

described below (that easement, the "Conservation Easement").  The Conservation Easement 

empowers Grantee to block activities, uses, and improvements inconsistent with the 

Conservation Purpose. 

 

1. Conservation Purpose.  The objectives of the Conservation Easement are to 

protect and preserve natural habitat for wildlife and plants native to the area and to maintain and 

protect riparian rights associated with Alum Creek by allowing the Property to grow fallow (the 

"Conservation Purpose").  In connection with achieving the Conservation Purpose, (i) Grantee 

may introduce native plant species on the Property, (ii) construction of any new improvements 

on the Property and the surface exploration, development, mining, or extraction of soil, sand, 

gravel, mineral, oil, gas, or other substance from the surface of the Property is prohibited, (iii) no 

fencing or similar barriers may be erected on the Property except that fencing on the date this 

Conservation Easement is recorded may be repaired or replaced with similar fencing, and (iv) no 

signage may be installed on the Property except for "no trespassing" signs, signs identifying the 

Property as a conservation easement, and other signs that may be required by law, and any such 

permitted sign shall be no larger than that required to serve its intended purpose and consistent 

with the Conservation Purpose. 

 

2. Maintenance.  Grantee may trim or remove trees and other vegetation on the 

Property the condition of which poses a safety hazard to residences abutting the Property or to 

mitigate disease or invasive species.  Grantee may also mow or cause to be mowed grass within 

the Property as Grantee deems necessary so long as the Conservation Purpose is in all other 

respects maintained.  Grantee shall prohibit access to the Property except in connection with the 

exercise of such maintenance rights. 

 

ORDINANCE EXHIBIT 2

Page 101 of 119



 

2 
 

3. Federal Tax Items.  This Conservation Easement has been donated by Grantor and 

the donation of the Conservation Easement by this grant is intended to qualify as a "qualified 

conservation contribution" for purposes of §170(f)(3)(B)(iii) of the Code and applicable Treasury 

Regulations related thereto (the "Regulations"), and this Conservation Easement shall be construed 

and applied accordingly.   

 

 a. Grantor represents that no person has retained a qualified mineral interest in 

the Property of a nature that would disqualify the Conservation Easement for purposes of §1.170A-

14(g)(4) of the Regulations.  From and after the date hereof the grant of such an interest is 

prohibited and Grantee has the right to prohibit the exercise of such a right or interest if granted in 

violation of this provision. 

 

 b. To the extent required for compliance with §1.170A-14(g)(5)(ii) of the 

Regulations Grantor agrees to notify Grantee before exercising any reserved rights that may have 

an adverse impact on the conservation interests associated with the Conservation Easement. 

 

 c. In accordance with §1.170A-14(g)(6) of the Regulations, Grantor agrees that 

(i) the grant of the Conservation Easement gives rise to a real estate right immediately vested in 

Grantee that entitles Grantee to compensation upon extinguishment of the easement; (ii) the fair 

market value of the easement shall be determined in accordance with the Regulations; and (iii) 

extinguishment for unexpected changes that make impossible or impractical the continued use of 

the Conservation Easement for conservation purposes (as defined in the Regulations) can only be 

accomplished by judicial proceedings and Grantee's proceeds (as determined under the 

Regulations) from any sale or exchange of the Conservation Easement must be used by Grantee in 

a manner consistent with the Conservation Purpose.  

 

 d. If the Conservation Easement is transferred, the transferee must commit to 

hold the Conservation Easement exclusively for the Conservation Purpose. 

 

 e. No goods or services were delivered to Grantor in consideration of this grant 

and this grant is not conditioned upon the availability or amount of a deduction, credit or other 

benefit under applicable law. 

 

4. Transferees; No Merger.  In support of the Conservation Purpose, Grantee will not 

transfer this Conservation Easement or otherwise assign its rights or responsibilities under this 

grant to any person or entity other than a "qualified organization" under §170(h)(3) of the Code 

committed to upholding the Conservation Purpose.  Subject to the foregoing, this Conservation 

Easement shall run with the land.  In the event Grantee or any future holder of this Conservation 

Easement shall obtain the remaining fee interest in the Property, this Conservation Easement shall 

not merge with such fee interest. 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Conservation Easement shall become effective on the date 

this instrument is recorded in the real property records of Franklin County, Ohio. 

Page 102 of 119



 

3 
 

 

 

      GRANTOR: 

 

      HOWARD BELFORD TRUST  

 

 

      By: ________________________ 

      Name: ________________________ 

      Title: _________________________ 

 

 

 

      GRANTEE: 

 

      CITY OF BEXLEY 

 

 

      By: __________________________ 

      Name: ________________________ 

      Title: _________________________ 

 

 

 

  

Page 103 of 119



 

4 
 

STATE OF OHIO 

COUNTY OF FRANKLIN  

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on  ____________________, 2021, by 

____________________________, Trustee of the Howard Belford Trust. 

 

 

      ___________________________________ 

      Notary Public in and for the State of Ohio 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF OHIO 

COUNTY OF FRANKLIN  

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on  ____________________, 2021, by 

____________________________, ________________ of City of Bexley, a municipal 

corporation, on behalf of said corporation. 

 

 

      ___________________________________ 

      Notary Public in and for the State of Ohio 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This instrument was prepared by:  

Glen A. Dugger 

Smith & Hale LLC  

37 West Broad Street, Suite 460 

Columbus, OH 43215  

614-221-4255 

 

 
belford-conservation.eas (nct)  

4/26/21 S:Docs 

   

 

 

 

 

Page 104 of 119



 

5 
 

    EXHIBIT A 

     

    PROPERTY 
 

Description of 3.167 acres 

 

Situated in the State of Ohio, County of Franklin, City of Bexley and being a part of Half Section 

16, Section 16, Township 5, Range 22, Refugee Lands, and being 3.167 acres out of an original 

3.82 acre tract as described in a deed to Howard Belford, Trustee of the 361 North Parkview 

Trust Dated January 31, 2006, as recorded in Instrument No. 200604260078145, Franklin 

County Recorder’s Office, said 3.167 acre tract being more particularly described as follows: 

 

Beginning for reference at a found ¾” iron pipe located at the southeast corner of Lot 2 in Block 

No. 1 of Bullitt Park as recorded in P.B. 4, Pg. 416, said iron pipe being in the west line of North 

Parkview Ave. (80’ wide), said iron pipe being the northeast corner of Lot 3 of said Bullitt Park 

as described in a deed to Melanie Schottenstein as recorded in Instrument No. 

201307120117099 (1.640 acres by deed), said iron pipe being located S 03⁰42’56” W 230.34’ 

from a found ¾” iron pipe in the centerline of former Maryland Ave. (60’ wide, Atchison St. per 

said plat of Bullitt Park) as vacated by Ordinance No. 997, Village of Bexley dated 12/11/1926; 

 

Thence N 85⁰55’30” W, 487.95’ (passing a found 2” iron pipe at the southwest corner of said Lot 

2 at 264.83’), along the south line of said Lot 2, the north line of said Lot 3, the south line of said 

3.82 acre tract, and being the north line of said Schottenstein 1.640 tract, to a found ¾” iron pipe, 

said iron pipe being the northwest corner of said 1.640 acre tract and being the northeast corner 

of a 0.460 acre tract as described in a deed to Jane P. Doerr-Robinson & Timothy C. Robinson as 

recorded in Instrument No. 20190960115280, said iron pipe being the True Place of Beginning 

for the herein described 3.167 acre tract; 

 

Thence N 86°04'43"W, 711.89’ (passing a found ¾” iron pipe at 622.06’), along the south line of 

said 3.82 acre tract, being the north line of said 0.460 acre tract and being the north line of a 

2.047 acre tract as described in a deed to City of Bexley as recorded in Instrument No. 

201908290111439, to a point in the centerline of Alum Creek, said point being in the east line of 

Nelson Park being a part of Lot 1 of the Nelson Heirs’ Partition, Franklin County Court of 

Common Pleas Complete Record 28, page 454 conveyed as an 11.71 acre tract to the City of 

Columbus in D.B. 525, pg. 454; 

 

Thence N 34°59'24"E, 3.50', along the centerline of said Alum Creek, being the west line of said 

3.82 acre tract, the east line of said Nelson Park, and said 11.714 acre tract, to a point; 

 

Thence N 48°31'15"E, 319.22’, continuing along the centerline of said Alum Creek, the west line 

of said 3.82 acre tract, the east line of said Nelson Park and said 11.71 acre tract and the east line 

of the balance of a 1 acre tract described in a deed to the City of Columbus in O.R. 27883 D02, 

and the west line of a 35’ wide strip as described in a deed to City of Columbus as recorded in 

Deed Book 573, Pg. 200, to a point, said point being the northwest corner of said 3.82 acre tract, 

being the southwest corner of a 30’ wide strip of land as described in a deed to Frank K. Brown 

Page 105 of 119



 

6 
 

& Blythe M. Brown as recorded in Instrument No. 200907080099780, said point being the 

northeast corner of said City of Columbus 35’ wide strip and being the southeast corner of a 6.56 

acre tract as described in a deed to City of Columbus as recorded in Deed Book 924, Pg. 203, 

said point being in the centerline of said former Maryland Ave.; 

Page 106 of 119



 

7 
 

 

Description of 3.167 acres continued 

 

Thence S 86°00'14"E, 486.44', (passing at set iron pin at 75.00’), along the north line of said 

3.82 acre tract, being the south line of said Brown tract, being the centerline of said former 

Maryland Ave., to a ¾” iron pipe found with cap stamped “MYERS 6579”; 

 

Thence S 04°02'45"W, 229.66', crossing said 3.82 acre tract, along a new division line, to 

the True Place of Beginning, having an area of 137962 Square Feet, 3.167 Acres, being all 

out of Auditor’s Parcel No. 020-000115. 

 

Bearings are based on the west of said North Parkview Ave, as being N 03°42’56” W based 

on GPS observations using the State of Ohio Department of Transportation VRS System, the 

State Plane Coordinate System, Ohio South Zone, North American Datum, of 1983, also 

known as NAD83 (2011 Adjustment). All iron pins set are 5/8” rebar, 30” long with yellow 

plastic cap stamped “J & J Surveying”. All references to documents are recorded in the 

Franklin County Recorder’s Office. This description is based on an actual field survey 

performed by J & J Surveying under the direction of John W. Wetherill, P.S. 7811, in 

October 2020. 

 

 

 

Page 107 of 119



 

8 
 

 

Page 108 of 119



LIMITED WARRANTY DEED

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, HOWARD BELFORD TRUST, (hereinafter
"Grantor"), hereby grants, with limited warranty covenants, all its right, title, and interest in and to
the CITY OF BEXLEY, OHIO, an Ohio municipal corporation, whose tax mailing address is :
2242 East Main Street, Bexley, Ohio, 43209, the following real property:

Being the premises more particularly described in "Exhibit A" attached hereto
and by reference made a part hereof.

This conveyance is made subject to all previous easements, conditions, and restrictions of
record, if any, and is further subject to taxes and assessments, if any, now a lien, and further
subject to the following restriction: as a condition of this conveyance, this property shall subject to
and perpetually be used consistent with the provisions of that Conservation Easement conveyed
from Grantor to Grantee in Official Instrument #  , dated 202Iof record in the
office of the Recorder for Franklin County, Ohio

Prior Instrument Reference:
Parcel Number: split out of 020-000115

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said HOWARD BELFORD TRUST,
Grantor, by   its Trustee, has caused his name to be subscribed on this
 day of , 2021.

Signed and acknowledged
In the presence of: HOWARD BELFORD TRUST

by: 
Its: Trustee of the Howard Belford Trust

STATE OF OHIO
COUNTY OF FRANKLIN, SS

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this  day of , 2021, before me, the subscriber,
a Notary Public in and for said county, personally came  the Grantor in the foregoing
Limited Warranty Deed, by    its Trustee, who acknowledged the
signing thereof to be his voluntary act and deed on behalf of the Grantor.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name and affixed my seal on
this day and year aforesaid.

This instrument was prepared by:
Glen A. Dugger
Smith and Hale, LLC
37 West Broad Street
Columbus, Ohio 43215
(614) 221-4255

Notary Public

ORDINANCE EXHIBIT 3

Page 109 of 119



EXHIBIT A

Description of 3.167 acres

Situated in the State of Ohio, County of Franklin, City of Bexley and being a part of Half Section
16, Section 16, Township 5, Range 22, Refugee Lands, and being 3.167 acres out of an original
3.82 acre tract as described in a deed to Howard Belford, Trustee of the 361 North Parkview
Trust Dated January 31, 2006, as recorded in Instrument No. 200604260078145, Franklin
County Recorder's Office, said 3.167 acre tract being more particularly described as follows:

Beginning for reference at a found 3/4" iron pipe located at the southeast corner of Lot 2 in Block
No. 1 of Bullitt Park as recorded in P.B. 4, Pg. 416, said iron pipe being in the west line of North
Parkview Ave. (80' wide), said iron pipe being the northeast corner of Lot 3 of said Bullitt Park
as described in a deed to Melanie Schottenstein as recorded in Instrument No.
201307120117099 (1.640 acres by deed), said iron pipe being located S 03°42'56" W 230.34'
from a found 3/4" iron pipe in the centerline of former Maryland Ave. (60' wide, Atchison St. per
said plat of Bullitt Park) as vacated by Ordinance No. 997, Village of Bexley dated 12/11/1926;

Thence N 85°55'30" W, 487.95' (passing a found 2" iron pipe at the southwest corner of said Lot
2 at 264.83'), along the south line of said Lot 2, the north line of said Lot 3, the south line of said
3.82 acre tract, and being the north line of said Schottenstein 1,640 tract, to a found 'A" iron pipe,
said iron pipe being the northwest corner of said 1.640 acre tract and being the northeast corner
of a 0.460 acre tract as described in a deed to Jane P. Doerr-Robinson & Timothy C. Robinson as
recorded in Instrument No. 20190960115280, said iron pipe being the True Place of Beginning
for the herein described 3. 167 acre tract;

Thence N 86°04'43"W, 711.89' (passing a found 3/4" iron pipe at 622.06'), along the south line of
said 3.82 acre tract, being the north line of said 0.460 acre tract and being the north line of a
2.047 acre tract as described in a deed to City of Bexley as recorded in Instrument No.
201908290111439, to a point in the centerline of Alum Creek, said point being in the east line of
Nelson Park being a part of Lot 1 of the Nelson Heirs' Partition, Franklin County Court of
Common Pleas Complete Record 28, page 454 conveyed as an 11.71 acre tract to the City of
Columbus in D.B. 525, pg. 454;

Thence N 34°59'24"E, 3.50', along the centerline of said Alum Creek, being the west line of said
3.82 acre tract, the east line of said Nelson Park, and said 11.714 acre tract, to a point;

Thence N 48°31'15"E, 319.22', continuing along the centerline of said Alum Creek, the west line
of said 3.82 acre tract, the east line of said Nelson Park and said 11.71 acre tract and the east line
of the balance of a 1 acre tract described in a deed to the City of Columbus in O.R. 27883 D02,
and the west line of a 35' wide strip as described in a deed to City of Columbus as recorded in
Deed Book 573, Pg. 200, to a point, said point being the northwest corner of said 3.82 acre tract,
being the southwest corner of a 30' wide strip of land as described in a deed to Frank K. Brown
& Blythe M. Brown as recorded in Instrument No. 200907080099780, said point being the
northeast corner of said City of Columbus 35' wide strip and being the southeast corner of a 6.56
acre tract as described in a deed to City of Columbus as recorded in Deed Book 924, Pg. 203,
said point being in the centerline of said former Maryland Ave.;

Page 110 of 119



Description of 3.167 acres continued

Thence S 86°00'14"E, 486.44', (passing at set iron pin at 75.00'), along the north line of
said 3.82 acre tract, being the south line of said Brown tract, being the centerline of said
former Maryland Ave., to a 3/4" iron pipe found with cap stamped "MYERS 6579";

Thence S 04°02'45"W, 229.66', crossing said 3.82 acre tract, along a new division
line, to the True Place of Beginning, having an area of 137962 Square Feet, 3.167
Acres, being all out of Auditor's Parcel No. 020-000115.

Bearings are based on the west of said North Parkview Ave, as being N 03°42'56" W
based on GPS observations using the State of Ohio Department of Transportation
VRS System, the State Plane Coordinate System, Ohio South Zone, North American
Datum, of 1983, also known as NAD83 (2011 Adjustment). All iron pins set are 5/8"
rebar, 30" long with yellow plastic cap stamped "J & Surveying". All references to
documents are recorded in the Franklin County Recorder's Office, This description is
based on an actual field survey performed by J & J Surveying under the direction of
John W. Wetherill, P.S. 7811, in October 2020.

Page 111 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

EASEMENT 

 

 For and in consideration of Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Howard Belford 

Trust, (“Grantor”), as owner of the real property described in Exhibit A, does hereby grant and 

convey to The City of Bexley, an Ohio municipal corporation, (“Grantee”), as owner of a 

Conservation Easement donated from Grantor to Grantee over the Grantor’s property more 

particularly described in Exhibit B (the “Conservation Easement Area”), a perpetual non- 

exclusive easement over the portion of Grantor’s property more particularly described on Exhibit 

C (the “Easement Area”) for  ingress and egress of pedestrian and vehicular traffic to and from 

the public right of way by Grantee over and to the Conservation Easement Area (the “Easement 

Purpose”).  The Easement Purpose shall further include trimming and removing trees and other 

vegetation the condition of which poses a safety hazard to Grantee’s use of the Easement Area 

and for mitigating disease or invasive species thereon and repairing, replacing or removing any 

permitted fencing on Grantor’s property (other than any fencing as permitted below), all subject 

to the following conditions and restrictions: (i) no motorized vehicles shall be permitted in the 

Easement Area except for maintenance utility vehicles used solely for the maintenance of the 

Easement Area; (ii) Grantee shall provide Grantor with at least 48 hours notice prior to entering 

the Easement Area; (iii) Grantee shall promptly restore any damage to Grantor’s property 

resulting from Grantees use of the Easement Area; (iv) Grantee shall use all reasonable effort to 

minimize noise and disruption caused by its use of the Easement Area; (v) except in the case of 

emergency, Grantee shall limit its use of the Easement Area to weekdays between the hours of 

9:00 a.m. and 4:00 pm; and (vi) Grantee is prohibited from using the Easement Area to transport 

equipment or materials that are not necessary to accomplish the Easement Purpose, being the 

Grantee’s use and maintenance of the Conservation Easement Area.   

 Grantor reserves the right to construct fencing across any portion of the Easement Area 

and along the boundary line along the boundary of the Easement Area provided Grantor 

incorporates gating sufficient to allow Grantee’s reasonable use of the Easement Area to access 

the Conservation Easement Area as provided herein.  Grantor shall provide Grantee with keys to 

any locks on such gates. To the extent any obstruction exists within the Easement Area, Grantee 

may deviate from the Easement Area into Grantor’s property during ingress and egress only to 

ORDINANCE EXHIBIT 4

Page 112 of 119



the extent necessary to move around such obstruction and shall immediately return to the 

Easement Area.  

  

 The covenants contained herein shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and 

inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successor and assigns. The easement 

granted herein is solely for the benefit of the Grantee as owner of the Conservation Easement, 

and as such is an appurtenant easement.  This Easement may not be modified or amended 

without the prior written approval of the Grantor and Grantee. The provisions of this Easement 

are not intended to create, nor shall they be construed as creating, any rights in and for the 

benefit of the general public.  

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this agreement as of this ____ day 

of _____, 2021.   

 

 

      GRANTOR: 

      Howard Belford Trust, 

 

      BY:__________________ 

      David Belford, Trustee 

 

STATE OF OHIO:: 

COUNTY OF FRANKLIN:: 

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on _____________, 2021 by David 

Beford, Trustee of the Howard Belford Trust. 

 

      ____________________________ 

      Notary Public in and for the state of Ohio. 

This instrument prepared by Glen A. Dugger, 37 West Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio. 43215 

Page 113 of 119



EXHIBIT A 

(GRANTOR’S PROPERTY) 

 

 

Page 114 of 119



EXHIBIT B 

 

(THE CONSERVATION EASEMENT AREA) 

 

Description of 3.167 acres 

 

Situated in the State of Ohio, County of Franklin, City of Bexley and being a part of Half 

Section 16, Section 16, Township 5, Range 22, Refugee Lands, and being 3.167 acres out of 

an original 

3.82 acre tract as described in a deed to Howard Belford, Trustee of the 361 North 

Parkview Trust Dated January 31, 2006, as recorded in Instrument No. 200604260078145, 

Franklin County Recorder’s Office, said 3.167 acre tract being more particularly described 

as follows: 

 

Beginning for reference at a found ¾” iron pipe located at the southeast corner of Lot 2 in 

Block No. 1 of Bullitt Park as recorded in P.B. 4, Pg. 416, said iron pipe being in the west line 

of North Parkview Ave. (80’ wide), said iron pipe being the northeast corner of Lot 3 of said 

Bullitt Park as described in a deed to Melanie Schottenstein as recorded in Instrument No. 

201307120117099 (1.640 acres by deed), said iron pipe being located S 03⁰42’56” W 230.34’ 

from a found ¾” iron pipe in the centerline of former Maryland Ave. (60’ wide, Atchison St. 

per said plat of Bullitt Park) as vacated by Ordinance No. 997, Village of Bexley dated 

12/11/1926; 

 

Thence N 85⁰55’30” W, 487.95’ (passing a found 2” iron pipe at the southwest corner of said 

Lot 2 at 264.83’), along the south line of said Lot 2, the north line of said Lot 3, the south line 

of said 

3.82 acre tract, and being the north line of said Schottenstein 1.640 tract, to a found ¾” iron 

pipe, said iron pipe being the northwest corner of said 1.640 acre tract and being the northeast 

corner of a 0.460 acre tract as described in a deed to Jane P. Doerr-Robinson & Timothy C. 

Robinson as recorded in Instrument No. 20190960115280, said iron pipe being the True Place 

of Beginning for the herein described 3.167 acre tract; 

 

Thence N 86°04'43"W, 711.89’ (passing a found ¾” iron pipe at 622.06’), along the south line 

of said 3.82 acre tract, being the north line of said 0.460 acre tract and being the north line of a 

2.047 acre tract as described in a deed to City of Bexley as recorded in Instrument No. 

201908290111439, to a point in the centerline of Alum Creek, said point being in the east line 

of Nelson Park being a part of Lot 1 of the Nelson Heirs’ Partition, Franklin County Court of 

Common Pleas Complete Record 28, page 454 conveyed as an 11.71 acre tract to the City of 

Columbus in D.B. 525, pg. 454; 

 

Thence N 34°59'24"E, 3.50', along the centerline of said Alum Creek, being the west line of 

said 

3.82 acre tract, the east line of said Nelson Park, and said 11.714 acre tract, to a point; 

 

Page 115 of 119



Thence N 48°31'15"E, 319.22’, continuing along the centerline of said Alum Creek, the west 

line of said 3.82 acre tract, the east line of said Nelson Park and said 11.71 acre tract and the 

east line of the balance of a 1 acre tract described in a deed to the City of Columbus in O.R. 

27883 D02, and the west line of a 35’ wide strip as described in a deed to City of Columbus as 

recorded in Deed Book 573, Pg. 200, to a point, said point being the northwest corner of said 

3.82 acre tract, being the southwest corner of a 30’ wide strip of land as described in a deed to 

Frank K. Brown & Blythe M. Brown as recorded in Instrument No. 200907080099780, said 

point being the northeast corner of said City of Columbus 35’ wide strip and being the 

southeast corner of a 6.56 acre tract as described in a deed to City of Columbus as recorded in 

Deed Book 924, Pg. 203, said point being in the centerline of said former Maryland Ave.; 
 

Description of 3.167 acres continued 

 

Thence S 86°00'14"E, 486.44', (passing at set iron pin at 75.00’), along the north line of said 

3.82 acre tract, being the south line of said Brown tract, being the centerline of said former 

Maryland Ave., to a ¾” iron pipe found with cap stamped “MYERS 6579”; 

 

Thence S 04°02'45"W, 229.66', crossing said 3.82 acre tract, along a new division line, to 

the True Place of Beginning, having an area of 137962 Square Feet, 3.167 Acres, being all 

out of Auditor’s Parcel No. 020-000115. 

 

Bearings are based on the west of said North Parkview Ave, as being N 03°42’56” W based 

on GPS observations using the State of Ohio Department of Transportation VRS System, the 

State Plane Coordinate System, Ohio South Zone, North American Datum, of 1983, also 

known as NAD83 (2011 Adjustment). All iron pins set are 5/8” rebar, 30” long with yellow 

plastic cap stamped “J & J Surveying”. All references to documents are recorded in the 

Franklin County Recorder’s Office. This description is based on an actual field survey 

performed by J & J Surveying under the direction of John W. Wetherill, P.S. 7811, in 

October 2020. 

 

Page 116 of 119



EXHIBIT C 

(THE EASEMENT AREA) 

 

 

Page 117 of 119



Mgersgumorm
2740 East Main Street
Bexley, Ohio 43209-2577
(614) 235-8677
Telefax 235-4559
Email: info@myerssurveying.corn

1.175 Acres

r-.7,ANKLIN Cr„

(f,Ve.).7. . J.
• PSNOAA G fr

Situated in the State of Ohio, County of Franklin, City of Bexley, located in Half Section
No. 16, Section No. 11, Township 4, Range 22, Refugee Lands and being part of Lot Number
One (1) which was set off and assigned to Anne Eliza Nelson by the Court at Common Pleas of
Franklin County, Ohio in the case of John J. Nelson, et al, against Charles Eldridge and Catherine
Eldridge and as designated on the plat of partition case as recorded in Complete Record 20, Page
458 and being part of the 3.82 acre, part of Parcel Two conveyed Howard Belford, Trustee of The
361 North Parlcview Trust dated January 31, 2006 shown in record in Inst. No,
200604260078145, Franklin. County Recorder's Office, and being more particular described as
follows:

Commencing at a found 1" dia. pipe with a cap inscribed "RD Zande & Assoc. on the west
right at way line of N. Parkview Ave. (80 feet wide), being the northeast corner of Lot 8 of the
Resubdivision of Lot Numbers 1, 2, 5 and 6 of Walter Jeffery Addition, as shown and delineated
upon the recorded plat thereof, of record in Plat Book 84, Page 67, also being the southeast corner
of a 1.640 acre tract conveyed to Melanie Schottenstein (Inst. No. 201307120117099);

Thence, along the west right of way line of N. Parkview Ave., the east line of said 1.640
acre tract, North 04° 47' 00'West, 146.20 feet to a found a 1 1/2" dia. iron pipe at the northeast
corner at said 1.640 acre tract, the southeast corner of Lot 2, Block 1 of Bullitt Park (P.B. 4, P.
416)

Thence, along part of the north line of said 1.640 acre tract, along the south line of said
Lot 2, North 84° 52' 24" West, 264.78 feet to a found 2" dia. iron pipe at the southwest corner of
said Lot 2, an angle point in the north line of said 1.640 acre tract, the southeast corner of said
3.82 acre tract, and being the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING:

Thence, along part of the south line of said 3.82 acre tract, along part of the north line of
said 1.640 acre tract, North 84° 59' 25" West, 223.28 feet to a found 1" dia. iron pipe at the
northwest corner of said 1.640 acre tract, the northeast corner of a 0.460 acre tract (Tract II)
conveyed to Jane P Doerr-Robinson and Timothy E Robinson (Inst. No 201909060115280)

Thence, across said 3.82 acre tract, along the east line of said 0.460 acre tract extended
northerly across said 3.82 acre tract, North 05° 04' 05" East, 229.65 feet to a set iron pipe on the
north line of said 3.82 acre tract, being the north line at said Half Section, and being on the south
line of a twenty (20) foot in width strip of land conveyed to Frank K. Brown, II and Blythe M.
Brown (Inst No 200907080099780);

Thence, along the north line of said Half Section, along part of the north line of said 3.83
acre tract, along part of the south line of said twenty (20) foot in width strip of land, South 84°
58' 04" East. 222.37 feet to a found 1" dia. solid iron pin at the northeast corner of said Half
Section, the northwest corner of a strip of land thirty (30) foot in width adjoining Lot 1, Block 1,
of said Bullitt Park on the north, said strip being formerly known as Maryland Ave., vacated by
Ord. No. 977 in December 11 1928 (repealed) and vacated by Ord. No. 2-50 (City retained
easement rights) on February 14 1950, being referenced by an 1" dia. iron pipe found South
84°58' 04" East, 264.11 feet therefrom;

Thence along part of the east line of said Half Section, along the west line of said thirty
(30) foot strip, along the west line of said Lots 1 and 2 of Block 1, South 04° 50' 27" West,
229.56 feet to the place of beginning CONTAINING 1.175 acres (51,162 sf) subject, however,
to all legal highways, easements, leases, restrictions of record and of records in the respective
utility offices. Iron pipes set are 1" (0.D) by 30" long with an orange plastic cap inscribed
MYERS PS 6579. Basis of bearing is a north line of the 1.640 acre tract held as North 84°52'24"
West. The foregoing description was prepared from a boundary survey by Myers Surveying in
July 2020

•ge
Jeetwim

7// 7/ 2-o Z.-c..)

Joseph P. Myers, P , S 7361
Myers Surveying Co., Inc.

JPM/qp
8061820. legal

ORDINANCE EXHIBIT 5
Page 118 of 119



Myers Surveying Company, Inc.
2740 East Main Street, Columbus 43209 (Bexley), Ohio

614-235-8677 FAX:614-235-4559

A Boundary Survey prepared for and certified to:
David A Belford

Legal Description: Situated in The State of Ohio, County of Franklin, City of Bexley, Being 1.175 Acres, Part of a 3.82 Ac. Tract,
Plat Book 4, Page 416

Applicant;
Posted Address: 361 N. Parkview Avenue, Bexley, Ohio

St
am

pe
d 

"J
W

J"
 

Jane P. Doerr-Robinson
and Timothy C. Robison

Tract II 0.460 Ac.
(I.N. 2019090601..15280)

Fd. 1" 146.35'
Solid I.P. 505'04'05"W

(504'02'20"W
146.13i- Deed)

Fd. 1" I.P.
RD Zande Cap

1.15'
504'37'53"W

8 
P 
3,50'

Fd. 2"
Dia. I.P

N0p

uN cit

z

Fd. 1" I.P.
RD Zande Cap

Fd. 1"

4‘04

CREEK

N05°04'05uE
229.65'

Howard Belford, Trustee
Parcel Two

3.82 Ac.
(Inst. No. 200604260078145)

P.0.8. 1.175 Ac,

308.18y 146.20'
504'47'00"W N04'47'00"E

Fd. 1" (N04-42'09"6 - Deed)
Solid I.P. (146.24-Deed)

3.8' fence

(100'-Plat)

Lot 2

1.175 Ac.
(51,162 SF)

2291.561
504°50'27"W
Parcel One  

0.

(100-Plat)

(Improvements
not shown)

Lot 1

8 ul l Itt Park
P .B. 4, Pg. 416

60'

Fd.1'
Solid I.P.

30' 0' 60'

30'

Scale 1" = 60'
Date: 07/17/2020

N. PARKVIEW AVENUE 801m378 s_
We hereby certify that the foregoing Boundary Survey was prepared from actual field
measurements in accordance with Chapter 4733-37 Ohio Administrative Code. Iron pipes set
are 30"xl" O.D. with an orange plastic plug inscribed "MYERS P.S. 6579", unless otherwise noted.
Basis of bearings is the north line of 1.640 acre tract (IN. 201307120117099) held as N84°52'24"W.

01041. Millig44,

OF
"k,

,,,„ •
JOSEPH

ERS • 4'
7361

,B Oeoa

SiONINVO)'

RAV

711 7/2,:'2
Professional Surveyor

Rec.
Myers Order No.-8-06/18/2020

Field DWG. Ltr. Ck.

Page 119 of 119


	1) Call to Order
	2) Roll Call of Members
	3) Pledge of Allegiance
	4) Presentations/Special Guests
	A) Nick Denby and Lauren Graham, Pelotonia
	B) Caitlin Miller, Nationwide Children's Hospital Rub

	5) Public Comments
	6) President's Report
	7) City Attorney Report
	8) Consent Agenda:
	A) Minutes from the 6-8-21 City Council Meeting
	2021-06-08 City Council Minutes


	9) Administrative Update:
	A) Service Department Update
	Service Department

	B) Police Department Update- Chief Rinehart
	C) Recreation and Parks Update- Mike Price
	D) Finance Department Update
	E) Mayor's Update

	10) Ordinances/Resolutions with visiting presenters
	11) Third Readings:
	A) Ordinance 24-21, to award the Bexley Electricity A
	Ordinance 24-21 Aggregation Award
	Exhibit A AEP Energy_Response to City

	B) Ordinance 25-21, to amend Sections 1220.03, 1220.0
	Ordinance 25-21 ARB BZAP Composition and Votes

	C) Resolution 07-21, confirming the Mayor’s appointme
	Resolution 07-21 Annual Board Appointments


	12) Second Readings:
	A) Ordinance 26-21 to amend section 262.02(e) to allo
	Ordinance 26-21 Sick Leave Payout for Part-time Employees REVISED

	B) Ordinance 27-21 to appropriate $281,500 from the C
	Ordinance 27-21 Capital Appropriations


	13) First Readings:
	A) Ordinance 28– 21 to amend section 262.02 (c)(3) to
	Ordinance 28-21 262 Revisions Juneteenth vacation

	B) Ordinance 29– 21 to amend 618.15 (Dogs on City Par
	Ordinance 29-21 Service Animal 

	C) Ordinance 30 – 21 to create the position of “Chief
	Ordinance 30-21 Chief Executive Assistant

	D) Ordinance 31 – 21 to create section 262.02 (c)(14)
	Ordinance 31-21 262 Revisions Vacation new employees


	14) Tabled Ordinances:
	A) Resolution 05-21: A Resolution approving the 2021 
	Resolution 05-21 Adopting Bike Plan
	2021_05_24_BicycleFriendlyBexleyReccomendationsFINAL_TooleDesign
	i) Link to proposed Bike Boulevard map

	B) Ordinance 12-21, to adopt and approve the City of 
	Ordinance 12-21 Plan of Governance
	Ordinance 12-21 Exhibit A Bexley POG 3-22-21

	C) Ordinance 23-21: An Ordinance accepting the donati
	ORD 23-31 - Accepting Donation of Easement and Real Property (Belford) (w-exhibits) 5.10.21


	15) Service and Environmental Committee - Richard Sharp, Chair
	16) Finance Committee - Troy Markham, Chair
	17) Safety and Health Committee - Jen Robinson, Chair
	18) Zoning and Development Committee - Jessica Saad, Chair 
	19) Recreation and Parks Committee -  Matt Klingler, Chair
	20) Judiciary and Strategic Committee - Monique Lampke, Chair 
	21) Public Comments (No Speaker Slip Required)
	22) Executive Session
	A) Executive Session pursuant to 223.03: to consider 

	23) Adjourn

